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Highlights

Adjusted profit before tax up 4% to £76.8 million (2002 – £73.7 million)

Adjusted earnings per share up 3% to 46.4 pence (2002 – 45.2 pence)

Total dividend for the year up 8% to 16.4 pence (2002 – 15.2 pence)

Continued strong growth of key brands: Clover, Cathedral City, Frijj and the
Yoplait brands

Strategic acquisition of St Ivel Spreads and strong performance to date

Completion of £54 million investment programme in super dairies with Severnside
fully operational

Reduction of exposure to commodities with planned closure of butter and powder
facility at Chard

Quality of earnings improving and the Group is moving into a period of strong
cash generation

Dairy Crest, the UK’s premier chilled dairy foods company, focuses on building leadership
positions in branded and added-value markets across the dairy sector and investing in
industry leading facilities to create competitive advantage. Dairy Crest operates in six
business areas: spreads, cheese, liquid products, fresh dairy products (through its joint
venture Yoplait Dairy Crest), household and ingredients.
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...with a strategy focused
on building brands

and adding value

The biggest selling dairy 
spread, Clover has grown 
by 49% in volume over the 
last five years.

49%

Market leading brands have
delivered impressive volume growth

over the past five years
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Bought by more households
than any other brand of
flavoured milk, Frijj has
grown by 71% in volume over
the last five years, making it
the nation’s favourite. 

71%

The brand leader in the
children’s chilled yogurts
and desserts market, 
Petits Filous has grown 
by 70% in volume over 
the last five years.

70%
Cathedral City has grown 
by 109% in volume over 
the last five years. In the 
last year alone, 30 million
individual packs were
bought in the UK.

109%

Turnover (£m)

(including share of  
joint ventures)

Operating profit (£m)

(excluding operating exceptional  
items and goodwill amortisation)

Adjusted earnings
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The Group has delivered good growth in the year to March 2003. Our strategy of adding
value, building brands and investing for lowest cost position continues to prove successful,
despite the particularly difficult trading conditions in our commodity markets. The Group
reported adjusted profit before taxation of £76.8 million on turnover of £1.33 billion, with
adjusted earnings per share increased to 46.4 pence. In line with the Board’s policy of
progressive dividend increases, the directors recommend a final dividend of 11.3 pence
per share, making a total dividend for the year of 16.4 pence, an increase of 8%.

In addition, we have taken major steps to improve the quality of earnings. In November 
we completed the acquisition of St Ivel Spreads for £86.5 million and we have announced
plans to close our butter and powder facility at Chard, which will reduce our exposure to
the commodity ingredients market.

During the year we also completed the capital investment programme in our two super
dairies at Severnside and Chadwell Heath. This has created a sound platform for our liquid
products business, as well as ensuring that we are well placed to benefit from any industry
consolidation.

We continue to place great emphasis on close working relationships with dairy farmers and
have developed initiatives to improve their returns. Dairy Crest has taken a leading role, not
only in terms of returning market leading milk prices to supplying producers, but also in
reducing cost in the supply chain and working with the major retailers to implement a milk
price supplement across our retail dairy product range last autumn.

Board changes
The Board has been significantly restructured over the last year to reflect the developing
needs of the business. 

In July 2002, Drummond Hall was appointed Chief Executive and Mark Allen was
appointed to the Board with responsibility for our cheese and household businesses. 
In April 2003, Peter Thornton was appointed to the Board with responsibility for our
spreads and liquid products businesses. Both Mark and Peter have successful records 
of achievement at Dairy Crest. In March 2003, Chris Roberts, who had been with Unigate
and latterly Dairy Crest for over 25 years, stood down from the Board.

Howard Mann, President and Chief Executive of McCain Foods, joined the Board as a
non-executive director, replacing Tom Jones, in May 2003.

Ian Laurie, who helped steer the Company through flotation and has been a key
contributor in developing Dairy Crest over the last eight years, will step down as Group
Finance Director and leave in August. Ian will be replaced by Alastair Murray, who will join
Dairy Crest from The Body Shop International plc in September. 

I would like to thank Chris, Tom and Ian for their considerable contributions to Dairy Crest
and to welcome Howard and Alastair to the Group. 

One of Dairy Crest’s strengths is the quality and professionalism of our people at every
level throughout the business. I would like to take this opportunity to recognise their hard
work and commitment, which, despite difficult trading conditions, have once again enabled
the Group to deliver a successful year.

S M D Oliver, Chairman
9 June 2003

Chairman’s statement

S M D Oliver, Chairman
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Chief Executive’s review

Drummond Hall, Chief Executive
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Overview
I was pleased to be appointed Chief Executive in July 2002, following 11 years developing
our Consumer Foods division. During the year, Dairy Crest has continued to make good
progress, despite testing conditions in the commodity cheese market, where prices were
at ten year lows. The key driver of the Group’s performance has been its portfolio of brands,
including Clover, Cathedral City, Frijj and the Yoplait brands, all of which have demonstrated
continued strong volume growth and increased market share. The acquisition of the St Ivel
Spreads business is proving to be a sound strategic and financial fit. This, together with
the downsizing of our ingredients business through the planned closure of our butter and
powder facility at Chard, will improve the quality of our earnings.

The business is well placed to continue to grow through further development of its
branded and added value products and to compete effectively in commodity areas from
well-invested facilities. During the year we completed the integration of the Unigate dairy
and cheese business, delivering the synergies forecast at the time of the acquisition.
Our super dairy at Severnside became fully operational towards the end of 2002. Very
importantly, our major capital investment programme will be completed in the current year
and the business will therefore generate increasingly strong cash flows.

Financial results
Group turnover (including the share of the joint ventures’ turnover and the benefit of the 
St Ivel Spreads acquisition in November 2002) was slightly down at £1.33 billion, which
principally reflected the impact of our strategic withdrawal from less profitable retail milk
business in the first half of last year, together with lower volumes and realisations in
commodity cheese. Group operating profit, including St Ivel Spreads but before operating
exceptional items and goodwill amortisation, increased by 5% to £97.5 million, with a
strong improvement in the second half as expected. Adjusted profit before tax was £76.8
million, compared with £73.7 million last year. After taking account of goodwill amortisation
and £21.5 million of net exceptional charges associated with the restructuring of the
Group, reported profit before tax was £47.8 million, up 65% from last year. Adjusted
earnings per share increased to 46.4 pence from 45.2 pence per share.

Strategic developments
In November we completed the acquisition of the St Ivel Spreads business. This
comprised the leading brands Utterly Butterly, St Ivel Gold and Vitalite, together with the
UK licence for the Carapelli brand, and a well-invested manufacturing facility in Kirkby. 
The integration with our existing spreads business is largely complete and the combined
spreads business has performed ahead of our original expectations.

We also acquired an exclusive licence to use the St Ivel brand in perpetuity across
spreads, juice and dairy products, excluding cottage cheese, yogurts and desserts. 
We believe this brand will add value across our business.

We are downsizing our ingredients business with the planned closure of our butter and
powder manufacturing facility at Chard and the consolidation of these operations at
Severnside. During the year significant new industry butter and powder capacity came 
on stream, which has made it increasingly difficult to source the required level of milk for
our business. By retaining the facility at Severnside, we will continue to have the ability 
to balance our milk supply efficiently and to supply our major ingredients customers. 
This will reduce our exposure to the commodity markets.

These important strategic moves underline our commitment to improving the quality of 
our earnings.
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Chief Executive’s review continued

Investment programme
Dairy Crest’s second super dairy at Severnside became fully operational towards the end
of 2002. This, together with the closure of our dairy at Kidlington, represented the final
step of the restructuring and capital investment programme following the acquisition of
Unigate’s dairy and cheese business in July 2000. The Group is now well placed to
develop its position in supplying fresh milk to retailers and to benefit from any industry
consolidation. Our net investment of £41 million in our creamery at Davidstow is
progressing well and is on track to be completed in spring 2004. This will support the
continuing strong growth of our brands Cathedral City and Davidstow.

The completion of these major projects means that future capital investment should return
to levels broadly in line with depreciation. 

Customer focus
We place great emphasis on developing strong relationships with our major customers
across all our businesses. We are investing in further improving service levels and a major
programme of category development. This programme has involved extensive consumer
research, insights from which are driving our business development plans in both brand
and retailer brand sectors with our customers.

People
Dairy Crest recognises the key role our people play in improving business performance 
and therefore the Company’s success. We are increasing investment in our people and, in
particular, focusing on management development of key personnel to ensure that all our
businesses will continue to compete effectively. Two of our businesses – household and
cheese – achieved the Investors in People standard and it is our intention that the other
businesses in the Group will follow over the next couple of years. We have benefited from
our move in September 2002 to our new Head Office at Claygate, which has enabled us
to consolidate our principal management activities on one site.

Our final salary pension scheme is increasingly recognised as an important benefit and one
that we plan to continue to support.  

Outlook
I believe the business is in a strong competitive position and is well placed to deliver
shareholder value. Our brands have started the year well. The planned closure of the
butter and powder facility at Chard is expected to have a broadly neutral impact on the
current year. Industry cheese stocks have reduced but there are still some excess stocks
of mature cheddar which will continue to affect margins in the first half. However, margins
are expected to improve progressively through the year and the Group’s performance is
again likely to be weighted towards the second half. Overall we expect profits for the year,
including the full year benefit of the St Ivel Spreads acquisition, to show good progress 
and the Group to be strongly cash generative.

J W D Hall, Chief Executive
9 June 2003
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In November 2002, Dairy Crest completed the acquisition of St Ivel Spreads from the Uniq
Group for a consideration of £86.5 million, satisfied wholly in cash and funded from new
bank facilities.

St Ivel Spreads comprises leading brands Utterly Butterly, St Ivel Gold and Vitalite, together
with the UK licence for the Carapelli brand, and a well invested manufacturing facility in
Kirkby. Dairy Crest also acquired an exclusive licence to use the St Ivel brand in perpetuity
for use across spreads, juice and dairy products, excluding cottage cheese, yogurts
and desserts.

The acquisition provides Dairy Crest with an attractive position across the spreads and
butter market, which has a retail sales value of over £825 million. The market is segmented
by consumers into the taste sector – comprising butter, spreadable butter and dairy
spreads – and the health sector – comprising low fat spreads, sunflower spreads, olive oil
based spreads and “nutriceuticals”.

The taste sector accounts for 63% of the market by value and includes the Dairy Crest
brands Clover, Utterly Butterly, Country Life, Country Life Spreadable and Willow. 

Dairy Crest’s Argento, Carapelli, St Ivel Gold and Vitalite fall into the health sector, which
accounts for 33% of the market by value. 

The remaining 4% of the market is accounted for by cooking fats.

St Ivel Spreads

Dairy Crest
  23%

Other 8%

Arla 16%

Own label
       19%

    Unilever
34%

A strong branded position 
in the UK spreads and
butter market.

Market share by volume

Source: AC Nielsen  52 w/e 19 April 2003

Launched in 1995 Utterly

Butterly is a delicious

spread made with

buttermilk, appealing to

consumers who don’t

take life too seriously,

which is why Utterly

Butterly sponsors

Europe’s only professional

wingwalking team.

Launched in 2000,

Carapelli is the only

branded spread

made with Italy’s

Number 1 extra 

virgin olive oil.

Building brands  
is our business

Launched in 1983,

Vitalite is a sunflower

spread for all the

family. The brand was

made famous by the

advertising campaign

using the Desmond

Dekker ‘Israelites’

song – Oh, Oh, Vitalite.

Launched in 1977, 

St Ivel Gold is a low

fat spread with a

delicious buttery taste

and is made with semi-

skimmed milk, making

healthy eating easier.
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Operational review 
Consumer Foods

The Consumer Foods division reflects Dairy Crest’s business with retailers,
including our share of the Yoplait Dairy Crest joint venture. Turnover decreased 
by 3% from £841.6 million to £814.8 million. Operating profit fell by 1% to 
£62.4 million, although operating margin increased slightly from 7.5% to 7.7%.
This performance reflected margin pressure in commodity cheese, offset by
ongoing brand growth, together with the benefits from the St Ivel Spreads
acquisition.

Spreads
Dairy Crest’s existing spreads business benefited from the continued strength of Clover’s
performance. Clover’s sales volumes increased by 9%, compared with the spreads and
butter market where sales volumes declined by 2%. This strong growth, combined with
the brand’s premium position, has helped maintain Clover as the clear brand leader in the
dairy spreads sector. We are continuing to invest in appropriate levels of marketing support
to further strengthen its consumer appeal, as evidenced by the new TV campaign that
commenced in May.

Dairy Crest is the leading manufacturer of Country Life in the UK. Both Country Life butter
and Country Life Spreadable have shown good volume growth during the year. Argento
was launched in June 2002, giving Dairy Crest a presence in olive oil based spreads,
subsequently added to by the Carapelli brand.

In line with its strategy of building brands, Dairy Crest acquired the St Ivel Spreads
business from the Uniq Group for a consideration of £86.5 million in November 2002. The
combined spreads business has performed ahead of our expectations during our period
of ownership. Following the acquisition, Dairy Crest has a presence in all sectors of the
spreads and butter market and is now the market leader, by volume, in the growing taste
sector, as well as the number two player in health. As expected, the acquisition has
enhanced adjusted earnings and is generating a return on investment in excess of Dairy
Crest’s cost of capital. The combined spreads business is highly cash generative.

We now have a broad portfolio of brands, each with a clearly defined role within the
category. The management of this portfolio as a whole will strengthen the position of each
individual brand. The combined spreads business is expected to be the biggest contributor
to Group profits and should continue to make progress in the current year, due to brand
growth and the synergy benefits of the acquisition. These synergy benefits are being
delivered in line with plan but will be offset in the current year by the planned increases
in marketing spend to support the St Ivel brands and recent increases in the cost of
vegetable oil. A new advertising campaign for Utterly Butterly is being implemented and
relaunches of St Ivel Gold and Vitalite are planned for the summer.

Made with freshly churned cream

to provide a deliciously smooth

creamy taste, Country Life

Spreadable is the fastest growing

spreadable product.

Willow continues to grow on the

strength of its appeal to young,

family orientated consumers who

appreciate its creamy taste and

spreadable characteristics.

Country Life, the Number 1 English

butter brand, was re-launched in

2002 with the strapline, ‘Freshly

churned English butter’ and last

year saw sales increase in a

declining market.



A tasty spread 
We now have a broad portfolio of brands, 

each with a clearly defined role

Dairy Crest 14%Other 7%

Own label 17%

Unilever 62%

Market share of 
health sector by volume

Dairy Crest 30%

Arla 29%

Other 11%

Own label 18%

Unilever 12%

Market share of 
taste sector by volume

Source: AC Nielsen  52 w/e 19 April 2003



The UK’s leading manufacturer of branded 
and added value cheddar

A strong appetite 
for further growth

Brands 23%

Medium 11%Mature 40%

Mild 27%
Others 10%

 Extra mature
              12%

Analysis of cheddar 
market by volume

Comparison of
sectors of cheddar
market by volume
(£m)

Brand share of the 
UK retail cheddar market
by volume

Extra matureMatureMediumMild
2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003

15
8

15
4

-2
.1

%

-3
.4

%

95 91

34
2 37

0

11
8

12
4

+
4.

7%

+
8.

1%

Source: TNS Superpanel  52 w/e 30 March 2003
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Cheese
The underlying performance of the cheese business reflects the benefits of our sustained
marketing and capital investment over a number of years to build a strong added value
and brand position. We have had yet another year of outstanding progress in Cathedral
City with sales volumes ahead by 23%, compared to the mature cheddar market, where
volume grew by just 2%. Cathedral City is the clear market leader in mature cheddar and
this growth underpins our strong belief in future opportunities for Cathedral City, since it
currently only has a market share of around 9% of the retail cheddar sector. We therefore
continue to invest in an active programme of brand development with appropriate new
product development and packaging innovation. Davidstow has also performed well, with
significant volume uplift of 18%.

Notwithstanding the strong performance of Cathedral City and Davidstow, the profitability
of the cheese business was significantly impacted by adverse market conditions in
commodity cheddar. As noted in November 2002, realisations in commodity cheddar
reduced to a ten year low in the summer of 2002, with industry stocks reaching an
unsustainably high level, peaking in August 2002. 

Based on industry estimates, stock levels at the year end were down approximately 13%
from their peak. We therefore believe that commodity mild cheddar cheese stocks are now
in balance and prices are starting to rise. However, prices and margins for commodity
mature cheddar will be under pressure over the next few months, as the final excess
mature stocks work their way through the system. A progressive firming in cheese pricing
is therefore expected throughout the year as this position resolves itself. We do not expect
the particularly difficult trading conditions experienced in commodity cheddar in 2002/03 to
be repeated in the medium term.

Our Stilton and specialist cheese business has made progress over the previous year,
capitalising on the investment in our manufacturing facility at Hartington, which was
completed in 2001.

Our net investment of £41 million to enhance and upgrade Dairy Crest’s creamery at
Davidstow is progressing well and on track to be completed in spring 2004. The
investment will increase capacity by approximately two thirds over the next ten years and
will support the continuing growth of Cathedral City and Davidstow. We are also investing
in further automation at Maelor to enhance its position as the leading cheese prepack site
in the UK.

We believe that the long-term fundamentals of our cheese business are good, as we
continue to develop our added value and branded offering. We expect Cathedral City 
to continue to make good progress in the current year. This should be assisted by the
introduction of new easy open/resealable packaging for Cathedral City this summer and
the extension of the range.

Operational review continued
Consumer Foods 

Dairy Crest’s Hartington creamery

in Derbyshire is the largest

producer of Stilton in the UK.

The Davidstow creamery in Cornwall

has been producing cheese for 

52 years and the brand grew by 18%

last year.
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Fresh dairy products
The Yoplait brands performed strongly in the second half of the year to March 2003 and
delivered branded volume growth for the full year of 15%. This followed a flat performance
in the first half, which reflected industrial action at Yoplait’s plants in France. Petits Filous
enjoyed another good year, which, combined with continued growth on the Wildlife range,
helped Yoplait Dairy Crest to enhance its position as the leading supplier to the children’s
sector. The Weight Watchers range, Yop and Yoplait Best There Is all performed well over
the year, resulting in the Yoplait brands achieving their highest ever market share.

Retailer own brand volumes showed a mixed picture in demanding market conditions.
However, margins benefited from the management actions taken last year to reduce
the cost base, including the closure of the Basildon plant, with production transferred
to other facilities. The desserts and ice cream operation at Yeovil has shown good growth.

Following completion of the purchase of 50% of the Yoplait business by Paribas Affaires
Industrielles, the Yoplait Dairy Crest joint venture agreement has been extended until 
at least 2012, reinforcing the success of the venture.

Yoplait Dairy Crest recently entered into an arrangement with Horizon Organic Dairies to
develop, manufacture and distribute new organic yogurt products in the UK under the
Rachel’s organic brand. The first product, an organic yogurt multipack, has just been
launched and other innovative organic fresh dairy products are expected to follow. This
new relationship is in addition to the agreement between Horizon and Dairy Crest to
manufacture and develop organic milk products in the UK.

We anticipate that continued strong volume growth from the Yoplait brands will enable
Yoplait Dairy Crest to achieve steady performance improvement in the current year.

Operational review continued
Consumer Foods 

YOP, the fast-growing yogurt

drink available in strawberry and

raspberry, is the ideal modern

product; healthy, refreshing and

can be consumed ‘on the go’. 

As sponsor of Major League

Baseball’s youth development

programme, Petits Filous Frubes

Pouches come in two delicious

flavours – Strike Out Strawberry

and Home Run Raspberry. 

With a new contemporary look,

Yoplait Best There Is! is positioned

as the ultimate French dairy

experience and appeals to women

who, while enjoying the finer

things in life, think about health in

a sensible and balanced way.



Top of the class
The leading supplier to the children’s sector

St Ivel 8%

Other 13%

Nestle 28%

Muller 16% Yoplait Dairy Crest 35%

Share of children’s chilled
yogurts and desserts
market by volume

ROB 28%

Other 21%

Nestle 10%

Muller 33%

Yoplait Dairy Crest 8%

Share of chilled
yogurts and desserts
market by volume

Source: Information Resources  52 w/e 20 April 2003



Efficiencies
flowing through

Capitalising on investment



Liquid products
The year to March 2003 saw the final steps in the restructuring of our liquid products
business, following the acquisition of Unigate’s dairy and cheese business in July 2000. 
The £54 million investment programme to create two super dairies at Chadwell Heath 
and Severnside was completed when Severnside became fully operational towards the
end of 2002.

The Severnside facility is unique in the UK dairy industry. It provides both scale for low cost
production and the flexibility, through milk segregation, to produce tailored propositions for
our customers. The plant has a processing capacity of 500 million litres per annum with a
highly automated retail liquid milk processing operation. There is an efficient potted cream
processing plant, as well as dedicated facilities for added value products, including organic
milk and McDonalds’ milkshake base and sundae mix. In addition, Severnside manufactures
Frijj, our market leading fresh flavoured milk drink. There is also a balancing butter and
skimmed milk powder manufacturing operation.

Dairy Crest’s investment at Severnside and Chadwell Heath has created two of the UK’s
largest retail milk dairies, processing milk previously manufactured at six smaller sites.
The Group also has two well-invested regional dairies at Totnes in Devon and Fenstanton
in East Anglia. This has resulted in considerable operating efficiencies and flexibility without
adding to overall industry capacity. Dairy Crest is now well positioned to capitalise on the
latest round of industry consolidation.

Trading conditions in the retail liquid milk market remained competitive during the year. In
fresh milk, the Group’s sales volumes with the main multiple retailers in March 2003 were
in line with those at the end of the previous year. Pressures in the retailer own brand sector
impacted the organic fresh milk business. Management action has been taken which is
now bringing supply more into balance with anticipated demand. The Rachel’s brand
(under licence from Horizon Organic Dairies) has shown strong sales growth. During the
year the juice business was affected by an increase in concentrate prices, which we have
been recovering progressively in a competitive market place.

Frijj enjoyed another year of strong growth with volumes increasing by 13%. Frijj continues
to be the market leader in the fresh flavoured milk drinks market and it is a key priority to
continue to drive Frijj volume and to develop the brand. We have also made business
gains in fresh cream and with McDonalds in our milk shake base business. Overall profits
in our liquid products business have made good progress on the prior year.

We are now capitalising on our investment to develop strong customer relationships,
together with further increases in operational efficiencies. While trading conditions will
continue to be competitive, financial returns from our liquid products business are
expected to improve and importantly the business will start to generate significant cash
flows now that the period of major capital investment has ended.
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Operational review continued
Consumer Foods 

Thick, fresh and tasty, Frijj is 

the UK’s Number 1 flavoured 

milk brand.

Launched in January 2002, 

the Rachel’s Organic brand is 

now the Number 1 organic fresh

milk brand.
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Operational review continued
Food Services

The Food Services division includes Dairy Crest’s household milk business and dairy
ingredients operations. It is managed to deliver the profits and cash to invest in the added
value and branded elements of the Consumer Foods division. Turnover decreased by 3%
from £525.1 million to £511.3 million. Operating profit increased by 17% to £35.1 million,
reflecting a good performance by our household business and improved trading conditions
in our ingredients operations over last year. The Food Services margin increased from
5.7% to 6.9%.

Household
The household business has performed well during the year and has made a strong
contribution to the Group’s profit and cash flows, despite doorstep volumes continuing to
decline at an annual rate of around 12%. The acquisition of small infill dairy businesses
has enabled the business to mitigate the impact of the overall market decline, with the
result that volumes in our household business have declined by around 6%. The business

has also benefited from the completion of the Unigate integration.

The business continues to be managed to reduce cost to counteract the effect of
falling volumes. First class service initiatives are aimed at minimising this decline

and Dairy Crest will continue to seek acquisition opportunities. The business
will again be a major contributor to Group profitability in the current year

and continue to be highly cash generative.

Ingredients
The performance of the ingredients business was, as expected,

ahead of last year, despite commodity prices for skimmed 
milk powder being at their lowest level for over ten years 

in the first half of the year. Results were also adversely
impacted in the last quarter of the year by the
appreciation of the Euro against Sterling and reductions
in the milk supply to this business.

Following the planned closure of our facility at Chard, the
manufacture of bulk butter and skimmed milk powder will 

be consolidated at Severnside, where we will continue to have
the ability to balance our milk supply efficiently and to supply our 

major ingredients customers. The business will continue to produce added
value propositions for leading food manufacturers. The downsizing of the

ingredients business will increase the quality and predictability of the Group’s
future earnings.

A commitment to 
first class service

Our milkmen play a significant role,

delivering a first class service, in the

communities in which we operate.
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As the UK’s leading chilled dairy foods company, we take our responsibilities to
the environment, employees, suppliers, customers and local communities
seriously. The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for performance in these
areas. Environmental, health and safety and energy policies are included in the
schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board and are available to
employees via the company’s intranet, our Good Environmental Practices manual,
training courses and in-house publications. Copies can be downloaded from
www.dairycrest.co.uk.

Environment
Our environmental management system – audited by an independent third party – is
controlled by the Group’s Technical Director and covers all operations. The Board monitors
performance via a quarterly report on environmental, health and safety, quality and risk
issues and we are pleased to report that, once again, there have been no prosecutions for
breach of environmental legislation.

We have realised our objective to achieve ISO 14001 accreditation across all Dairy Crest
manufacturing sites, including Kirkby, acquired in November 2002 from the Uniq Group.

Our sites now set annual targets to improve environmental performance and we will
develop our reporting over the next year to publish relevant data in these areas. We
maintain regular communication with the Environment Agency, reviewing energy efficiency
performance and water pollution prevention. The Group continues to seek out areas for
improvements in waste packaging and the reduction of energy usage by the adoption of
best practice guidelines, developed through our membership of relevant industry groups.

None of our mainstream refrigeration plants use CFCs and the use of HCFCs will be
phased out by the end of 2007.

Health and safety
Our commitment to health and safety contributes to business performance by reducing
injuries and ill health and our track record in this area, as measured by the Accident
Incidence Rate, continues to improve. Company-wide guidelines promote safe working
practices and food handling procedures which, together with hygiene rules, continue to
be rigorously enforced. All new employees (including directors) are offered relevant training 
to help maintain our high standards in food safety and quality.

We are augmenting the Group’s internal health and safety audit programme with a rolling
annual programme of external accreditation from the British Safety Council. This year three
sites – Davidstow, Maelor and Hanworth – were audited and earned audit scores of either
4 or 5 stars.

We are also involved in the Health and Safety Executive initiative to enable FTSE 350
companies to take part in a lead assessor scheme. As part of our plans to meet the
Government's “Revitalising Health and Safety” initiative, we have instigated an annual joint
review with the HSE whereby we co-develop the Company’s health and safety plan.

Top quality milk
Milk producers play a critical role in the delivery of a healthy future for the industry. The
Dairy Crest Farm Assurance Scheme – which embraces the industry’s National Dairy Farm
Assured Scheme – ensures the delivery of top quality milk, produced to the standards
required by consumers, in terms of food safety, animal welfare and protection of the
environment. Dairy Crest provides a subsidised farm support package through the White
Gold Service, to enable supplying producers to achieve Farm Assurance Standards with
the minimum of disruption and cost. 

A responsible company

The Dairy Crest Farm Assurance

Scheme ensures the delivery of top

quality milk in terms of food safety,

animal welfare and protection of

the environment.
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Financial review

Turnover
Group turnover, including our share of joint ventures’ turnover,
decreased by 3% to £1,326 million principally reflecting the
impact of our strategic withdrawal from less profitable retail milk
business in the first half of last year, together with lower volumes
and realisations in commodity cheese partially offset by the
inclusion of St Ivel Spreads turnover of £27.9 million from
November 2002.

Operating profit
Operating profit, including St Ivel Spreads, increased by 5% to
£97.5 million. After operating exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation, operating profit increased by 26% to £58.6 million
reflecting the reduction in business integration costs. In this
review, except where otherwise referred to, operating profit is
stated before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation.

Consumer Foods operating profit decreased by 1% to £62.4
million reflecting the contribution from St Ivel Spreads, ongoing
growth in brands and good progress in liquid products offset 
by margin pressure in commodity cheese. Consumer Foods
margin increased from 7.5% to 7.7%. Food Services operating
profit has increased by 17% to £35.1 million reflecting a good
performance in the household business and the improved
trading conditions in commodity ingredients during the year. 
The Food Services margin increased from 5.7% to 6.9%.

Exceptional items and goodwill amortisation
During the year we completed the integration of the Unigate
dairy and cheese business with the closure of the Kidlington
dairy in October 2002 and the Severnside super dairy coming
fully on stream towards the end of 2002. This has resulted in
one-off costs of £29.8 million, £15.5 million of which related to
redundancy and business integration costs and £14.3 million to
non-cash asset write-offs mainly at Kidlington.

In addition to the costs of integrating the Unigate dairy and
cheese business into the Group, there is a charge of
£0.6 million on the integration of the St Ivel Spreads business.
A charge of £1.0 million has also been recognised as our share
of Yoplait Dairy Crest’s costs in completing the closure of its
Basildon site and reorganisation of its activities.

Goodwill amortisation amounts to £7.5 million, £2.8 million of
which relates to the acquisition of the St Ivel Spreads business. 
We have reduced the amortisation period for goodwill arising on
acquisitions since 1 April 1998 from 20 years to 10 years as the
reduced period is considered to more closely reflect the useful
life of the goodwill. The change has increased the goodwill
amortisation charge in 2002/03 by £4.2 million. From 1 April
2002 goodwill amortisation on business acquisitions is tax
deductible. The tax benefit in 2002/03 is £0.8 million. This
amendment reduces basic earnings per share by 3p per share,
however this change in accounting estimate does not impact
prior years. In 2003/04 the goodwill amortisation charge is
currently estimated to be around £12.0 million with a tax credit
of £2.1 million.

We have also recognised non-operating exceptional credits 
of £9.9 million representing profits on disposal of our sites at
Westway, London, Marshfield and Carmarthen combined with
our share of Yoplait Dairy Crest’s profit on disposal of a property.
Further consideration may be received in relation to the
Westway disposal depending on final planning permission.

Interest
The Group’s interest charge has increased by 7% to £20.7
million. This increase reflects the impact of financing the St Ivel
Spreads acquisition, offset by the benefit of interest rate
reductions. This interest charge includes £0.5 million (2002 –
£0.6 million) in respect of our share of Yoplait Dairy Crest’s
interest and is stated after capitalising interest of £1.4 million
(2002 – £1.1 million) on major projects. Interest cover calculated
before operating exceptional items and goodwill amortisation
was 4.7 times (2002 – 4.8 times).

Taxation
The Group’s effective tax rate on profits excluding exceptional
items and goodwill amortisation was 26.8% (2002 – 27.0%).
This reflects a benefit of 2.8% (2002 – 1.6%) from adjustments
to tax liabilities in respect of prior years. The tax credit on the
operating exceptional items of £31.4 million was £9.0 million, 
a rate of 28.7% and the tax charge on the non-operating
exceptional item of £9.9 million was £0.4 million. Overall,
excluding goodwill amortisation, the Group’s effective tax rate
was 21.7% (2002 – 23.4%).

Earnings per share
The Group’s adjusted earnings per share increased by 3% to
46.4p per share. Basic earnings per share, which incorporates
the impact of acquisitions, exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation, increased by 68% to 30.2p per share.

The weighted average number of shares increased by
approximately 2.4 million to 120.7 million, following the exercise
of share options in the last two years.

I C Laurie, Finance Director



17 Dairy Crest Annual Report 2003

Dividends
The proposed final dividend of 11.3p per share, together with
the interim dividend of 5.1p per share, gives a total dividend of
16.4p per share for the full year. This represents an increase of
8% on the dividend declared for 2001/02. The final dividend will
be paid on 11 August 2003 to shareholders on the register on
11 July 2003.

Dividend cover, calculated as profit for the year after minority
interests, excluding exceptional items and goodwill amortisation,
divided by dividends payable, was 2.8 times (2002 – 2.9 times).

Pensions 
The Accounting Standards Board has delayed the
implementation of the standard on retirement benefits FRS 17
with the result that it is unlikely to be implemented by Dairy
Crest until its financial year ending 31 March 2006.

As noted last year FRS 17 will result in a major change to the
way pension costs are charged in the accounts. The current
service cost will be charged against operating profit with the
benefit due to the investment return on assets being higher than
the discount rate applied to liabilities together with interest on
any surplus/deficit in the fund being credited to interest.

The actuary has estimated that on an FRS 17 basis the deficit in the
fund at 31 March 2003 was £125.1 million compared with a surplus
of £54.7 million at 31 March 2002. For reference the FTSE 100 at
31 March 2003 was 3,613, 31% below the level at 31 March 2002.
The movement reflects a loss of £142.6 million as a result of the
actual return on investments being less than the expected return
and an increase in the present value of liabilities of £34.3 million
principally due to a reduction in the discount rate from 6.2% at 31
March 2002 to 5.5% at 31 March 2003 reflecting lower bond yields.
We estimate that an increase of 500 points in the FTSE 100, using 
it as a proxy for our equity investment, reduces the deficit by circa
£37 million and a 0.5% increase in real bond yields reduces the
deficit by circa £47 million. At 31 March 2003 the fund was invested
in equities (71%) and Index Linked Gilts (29%).

The Company believes that a defined benefit scheme is an
important benefit to employees. It has proposed to employees
that their pension contributions should rise by an average 2.8%
of pensionable salaries over the next three years from July 2003
to reflect the increased cost of funding pensions. Employers’
pension contributions are expected to be increased from 1 April
2004 by 3% of pensionable salaries (equivalent to circa £3 million),
to circa 7% subject to the advice of the actuary following
completion of his actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2004.

Cash flow
The cash inflow from operating activities was £104.9 million
(2002 – £48.5 million). This included a working capital outflow
of £6.1 million (2002 – £52.1 million). Stocks decreased by
£18.6 million principally reflecting reductions in maturing cheese
and ingredients stocks. Creditors reduced by £27.6 million

reflecting lower milk creditors, the timing of payments and the
settlement of liabilities in respect of sites closed during the year.

Depreciation amounted to £35.8 million (2002 – £37.0 million)
and goodwill amortisation amounted to £7.5 million (2002 –
£2.3 million).

Interest payments amounted to £22.0 million. The Group
borrows at a margin of 90-100 basis points over the relevant
interbank rate.

Tax payments were £4.1 million (2002 – £5.3 million) and reflect
the benefit of increased capital allowances on capital
expenditure.

Capital expenditure, net of grants of £5.6 million, was £61.6
million with significant amounts being invested at the Severnside
super dairy and the creamery at Davidstow, Cornwall.

The Group’s cash flow benefited by £34.6 million resulting from
the disposal of fixed assets. This included consideration of 
£18 million from the disposal of our site at Westway, London
and £9.5 million relating to the disposal of the site at Marshfield.

Purchase of businesses include the acquisition of St Ivel
Spreads for £88.5 million (including fees of £2.0 million) and a
number of household infill acquisitions which amounted to 
£5.8 million. The Group also received the final consideration 
of £0.9 million on 2 April 2002 in regards to the sale of 20% of
its interest in Haverfordwest Cheese Limited in 2001/02.

Net borrowings
Net debt increased by £60.3 million to £345.2 million at the end
of the year which reflects the acquisition of St Ivel Spreads and
significant capital expenditure during the year at Severnside and
Davidstow. At March 2003, gearing was 147% (2002 – 132%).
We expect the Group to be increasingly cash generative
following completion of its major capital investment programme
in the current year.

Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds at 31 March 2003 were £226.2 million
including goodwill of £107.8 million, £23.1 million of which
related to the Unigate dairy and cheese acquisition and £67.4
million to the St Ivel Spreads acquisition. The Group’s balance
sheet is strong with stocks of £210.5 million and tangible fixed
assets of £345.1 million.

Treasury policies
The Group operates a centralised treasury function which
controls cash management and borrowings and the Group’s
financial risks. The main treasury risks faced by the Group are
liquidity, interest rates and foreign currency. The Group uses
derivatives only to manage its foreign currency and interest rate
risks arising from underlying business activities. Transactions of
a speculative nature are prohibited. The Group’s treasury
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activities are governed by policies approved and monitored 
by the Board. These policies are summarised below.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to ensure that forecast net borrowings
plus a reasonable operating headroom are covered by
committed facilities which mature at least 12 months after the
year end. In November 2002, in conjunction with the acquisition
of the St Ivel Spreads business, the Group extended its £425
million credit facility arranged in May 2000 by £120 million. 
At 31 March 2003 the Group’s total credit facilities amounted to
£505 million. The facility consists of a five year term loan facility
of £200 million repayable in seven semi-annual instalments from
May 2002 to May 2005 (£40 million of this facility was repaid
during the year), a £225 million five year multi-currency revolving
credit facility repayable at maturity in May 2005 and a five year
term loan facility of £120 million repayable in four semi-annual
instalments from March 2006 to September 2007. 

Where interest rates are favourable short-term funding
requirements are met through uncommitted overdraft and 
short-term facilities amounting to over £20 million.

All borrowings are through banks with AA long-term credit
ratings or better. Funds temporarily surplus to business
requirements are invested overnight through deposit accounts
with commercial banks with a credit rating of AA or better. 
The Group currently has no requirement to place deposits for 
a longer period, accordingly counterparty risk is considered 
to be low.

Foreign currency risk
Translation exposures arise on the earnings and net assets of
our overseas subsidiary, Wexford Creamery Limited. Our policy
is to hedge the net asset exposure through borrowings in the
relevant foreign currency. At present, our only translation
exposure is in euros.

The majority of the Group’s transactions is carried out in sterling
and so transaction exposures are limited. The Group trades
skimmed milk products and bulk butter mainly to customers in
Europe and Central and South America. The Group also exports
its own skimmed milk products, bulk butter, Stilton and other
branded products. The Group’s policy requires traded foreign
currency sales and purchases to be hedged by foreign exchange
contracts once the transaction is committed so that the margin
on the transaction can be fixed. In addition a substantial part of
Yoplait Dairy Crest’s purchases are denominated in euros.

Currency exposures on other transactions, such as capital
expenditure denominated in a foreign currency, are hedged
following approval of the project using forward foreign 
exchange contracts.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s policy is to reduce the exposure of the business 
to changes in interest rates. The Group borrows at floating 
rates of interest and uses interest rate swaps or forward rate
agreements to limit the exposure to movements in sterling
LIBOR, although interest rate caps may also be used. The
policy is to fix or cap up to three quarters of floating rate
borrowings, although a higher percentage may be fixed within 
a 12 month horizon. £275 million, 77%, was fixed at 31 March
2003 for terms of up to five years.

Going concern
The financial statements on pages 30 to 50 have been prepared
on a going concern basis as the directors are satisfied that the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its
operations for the foreseeable future. In making this statement,
the directors have reviewed the Group’s budget and available
facilities and have made such other enquiries as they
considered appropriate.

Post balance sheet event
On 28 May 2003 the Group announced plans to close part
of its dairy ingredients operations at Chard, Somerset. The
closure is expected to result in exceptional cash costs of circa
£4.0 million and exceptional non-cash asset write downs of
circa £15.5 million. Net of tax, the total exceptional cost is
estimated at circa £14.0 million.

As announced on 30 May 2003, I will be leaving the business
by mutual agreement in August 2003. I have thoroughly enjoyed
my eight years at Dairy Crest during which time the business
has been listed on the London Stock Exchange and has grown
significantly in profitability and cash generation. Strong growth 
in branded products, together with the benefits from St Ivel
Spreads and the downsizing of our ingredients business will
improve the quality of earnings. I believe that the business 
is well positioned and has a strong team to continue its
development over the coming years.

I C Laurie, Finance Director
9 June 2003
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Directors and Advisers

Simon Oliver ‡ †

Chairman (62) 
Was appointed as a non-executive
director in December 1997 and
became Chairman in July 2000. He
farms 670 acres of cereals in Cornwall
and has many years’ experience in the
dairy industry, notably as chairman of
Mendip Foods Limited prior to its
acquisition by Dairy Crest in 1995. 
He is also chairman of Private Investor
Capital Limited.

Mark Allen
Executive Managing Director (43) 
Was appointed in July 2002. He joined
Dairy Crest in 1991 and was appointed
Managing Director of the cheese
business in July 2000. He also became
responsible for the household business
from April 2003 previously having been
Managing Director of household from
1995 to 2000.

Gerry Grimstone *†

Non-Executive Director (53) 
Was appointed in March 1999. He is
a non-executive director of Candover
Investments plc, Aggregate Industries
PLC and F&C Smaller Companies
PLC, and is a member of the
Horserace Totalisator Board and of 
the RAF Strike Command Board. 
He previously held a number of senior
positions at Schroders, the investment
bank and in the UK Civil Service.

Paul Lewis *‡ †

Senior Non-Executive Director (66)
Was appointed in August 1993. He
was deputy chairman and previously
group finance director of Tate & Lyle
plc. He is also a non-executive director
of Federal Mogul Corporation in
Southfield, Michigan, USA.

Peter Thornton
Executive Managing Director (37) 
Was appointed in April 2003. He joined
Dairy Crest in March 1993 and was
appointed Managing Director of the
spreads business in September 2000
becoming responsible also for liquid
products from April 2003.

Drummond Hall 
Chief Executive (53)
Was appointed in September 1991 and
became Chief Executive in July 2002.
He joined Dairy Crest from HP Bulmer
Holdings plc where he was Managing
Director, Cider and Beer Division. 
He was formerly Marketing Director
with Pepsi Cola Northern Europe. 

David Dugdale *‡

Non-Executive Director (61)
Was appointed in January 2002. He is
Managing Partner of Crathorne Farms
in North Yorkshire, a 1,900 acre mixed
dairy/arable operation. He is a council
member of the Royal Association of
British Dairy Farmers and holds a
number of offices, including Farmer
Director and Vice Chairman of United
Oilseeds Marketing Ltd. 

Ian Laurie
Finance Director (56) 
Was appointed in July 1995. He joined
Dairy Crest from Ocean Group plc,
where he was Group Finance Director
for eight years. He was formerly
Finance Director of Asda Stores Ltd.
He will not seek re-election to the
board at the Annual General Meeting
and will leave the Group in August.

Howard Mann †
Non-Executive Director (56) 
Was appointed in May 2003. He has
been president and chief executive 
of McCain Foods Limited, in Toronto,
Canada since 1995. Previously he 
held a number of senior positions 
with Rank Hovis McDougall and with
various Food Industry Associations.

Roger Newton
Company Secretary (54)
Joined Dairy Crest in February 1992.
He is a Solicitor and Chartered
Secretary.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
Wedlake Bell

Principal Bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
Rabobank International, London Branch 
Westdeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale

Registered Office
Claygate House, 
Littleworth Road,
Esher, Surrey KT10 9PN

Registered in England No. 3162897

* Audit Committee Members
‡Nomination Committee Members
†Remuneration Committee Members

The dates of appointment for
Drummond Hall, Paul Lewis and Ian
Laurie refer to the year when they were
appointed to the Board of Dairy Crest
Limited. Drummond Hall and Paul
Lewis were appointed to Dairy Crest
Group plc on 4 July 1996 and Ian
Laurie on 24 June 1996. 
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Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance procedures have met the
requirements of Section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (“the Code”) throughout the year. 

The Board
The Board consists of the non-executive Chairman, four
executive directors and four non-executive directors. The
Board considers all of the non-executive directors including the
Chairman to be independent. The Board meets eight times a
year. It reserves a formal schedule of matters for its approval
which includes Group strategy, approval of budgets and major
capital expenditure projects. All directors have access to
external advice at the expense of the Company. Mr P S Lewis
acts as the Company’s senior non-executive director. Any
shareholder who has a concern about the affairs of the
Company should contact, in the first instance, the Chairman,
the Chief Executive or Mr P S Lewis.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three non-executive directors
and is chaired by Mr P S Lewis. The Committee normally meets
at least twice a year to review the Company’s interim and annual
financial statements before submission to the Board for its
approval, to review the adequacy of the Group’s accounting
systems and controls and to monitor the relationship with the
external auditors, considering their independence and advising
the Board on auditors’ fees. It also considers the Group’s
compliance with the Combined Code. Mr D J Dugdale became
a member of the Audit Committee following the retirement of
Mr T H Jones on 29 May 2003.

The Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises two non-executive
directors and the non-executive Chairman. It is responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board on all director
appointments. Mr D J Dugdale became chairman of the
Nomination Committee following the retirement of Mr T H Jones
on 29 May 2003.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises two non-executive
directors and the non-executive Chairman and is chaired by
Mr G E Grimstone. Its responsibilities are to determine, within
remuneration principles agreed with the Board, the salaries,
bonuses and pension rights of the executive directors.
Remuneration and benefits are designed to be set at a level
appropriate to the Company’s circumstances having regard to
market information provided by outside agencies. The Board
itself determines the remuneration of non-executive directors.
Mr H Mann became a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 30 May 2003, following which the size of the committee was
increased to four.

Relations with shareholders
Communications with shareholders are given high priority. Major
announcements are made available to shareholders and the
general public through the London Stock Exchange and through
the Dairy Crest Group plc website www.dairycrest.co.uk.
There is regular dialogue with institutional and other major
shareholders. The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to
communicate with private and institutional investors and
welcomes their participation. The chairmen of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination committees are available at
Annual General Meetings to answer questions.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal
control and risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness.
As required by the Code, the Board has established an ongoing
process, in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull
committee on internal control, to identify, evaluate and manage
the risks faced by the Group. This process has been in place for
the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report.

The main elements of the process applied in reviewing the
effectiveness of the systems of internal control include:
• Board – the Board exercises its responsibilities through an

organisational structure with clearly defined levels of
responsibility and rules relating to delegated authorities. The
Board meets regularly throughout the year and receives oral
and written presentations to maintain effective control over
strategic, financial, operational and compliance matters.

• Financial reporting – there is an annual budget approved by
the Board and monthly financial reporting to the Board. The
monthly financial information includes trading results,
balance sheet and cash flow information by business unit
with comparison against prior year and budget.

• Control environment – the identification and mitigation of
business unit risks is the responsibility of the executive
directors in conjunction with the senior management of each
business. Each business unit operates and maintains
controls appropriate to its own activities and conforms to
group policies and procedures. On a quarterly basis, each
business unit is required to complete a self-assessment
controls questionnaire that requires the approval of business
unit management. In addition, the Audit Committee receives
reports from the internal audit function summarising audit
issues noted and corrective action plans as well as reports
from the external auditors on the conclusions of their interim
review and final audit.

The directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control which is designed to manage rather
than eliminate risk of failure to achieve the Group’s strategic
objectives and to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration

The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee of non-
executive directors of the Company. The Committee consists of
Mr G E Grimstone (Chairman), Mr P S Lewis, Mr S M D Oliver
and Mr H Mann (from 30 May 2003). Committee members have
no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships 
and are not involved in the day-to-day running of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee determines, within remuneration
principles agreed with the Board, the total remuneration
package of each executive director. It has appointed Monks
Partnership to provide advice on levels of remuneration and 
Aon Consulting on pensions to help it achieve its objectives. 
The Chief Executive attends all meetings and provides advice 
on matters other than those concerning himself.

Total remuneration
The total remuneration package, which is reviewed annually, is
structured to attract, retain and motivate executive directors.
The total remuneration of executive directors consists of base
salary, bonus, pension benefits, selected benefits in kind and
share incentive and option arrangements.

• Base salary
Salary levels for executive directors are reviewed annually based
on an independent assessment of market practice. They are set
to reflect the pay levels of executives with similar responsibilities
in companies of comparable size and complexity.

• Bonus
Executive directors participate in a performance related annual
bonus scheme which is linked to the achievement of short-term
financial targets which are agreed in advance by the
Remuneration Committee. Under the scheme they may be
awarded up to 50% of annual salary if targets are met.

• Long Term Incentive Share Plan 
A Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”) was introduced on
28 June 1996 which is designed to encourage continuing
improvement in the Group’s performance over the longer term.
An LTISP award is payable in shares, rather than cash, to
emphasise the alignment of interest between the participants
and the Company’s shareholders. The LTISP has a three year
performance cycle and pre-determined performance conditions
which must be met before awards under the LTISP can be
exercised. Awards under the LTISP are granted annually and, for
the awards which were made in the period from 1996 to 2001
financial years, the Company’s adjusted earnings, excluding
exceptional items and goodwill amortisation, per share must
increase over a three year period by the retail prices index (RPI)
plus 6%. In addition, the total shareholder return (“TSR”) of Dairy
Crest Group plc (share value growth assuming reinvestment of
dividends) will be measured against that of 15 comparator
companies in the foods sector and the FTSE 250 index
(excluding investment companies). If the TSR of Dairy Crest
Group plc at the end of the performance cycle is in the top
quartile then the participant will receive the full number of the
shares awarded to him including reinvestment of dividends; at

the median, 50% of the shares and, if below the median, no
shares. A proportionate number of shares will be received for
intermediate positions between the top quartile and the median.

For awards made from 2002 onwards, the performance
conditions were amended by shareholders at the 2002 
Annual General Meeting so that 50% of the total award will be
measured on TSR performance and 50% will vest depending 
on the growth in the Company’s adjusted earnings per share,
(EPS), when compared with the increase in the RPI over the 
3 year performance period. The Board believe that these
changes will ensure a more rounded assessment of the
Company’s performance.

The targets will be as follows:

LTISP Award TSR Element EPS Element

Proportion Proportion
of total Growth in of total

LTISP excess of LTISP
award RPI over 3 award

Performance Achieved vesting years vesting
Upper quartile 50% 24% 50%
Median 20% 9% 20%
Between median and 
upper quartile Pro rata Pro rata Pro rata

between between between
20% and 50% 9% and 24% 20% and 50%

The value of shares awarded under the LTISP in any financial
year is subject to limits determined by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. The current annual limit for
awards is 100% of base salary and the maximum awards during
the year were in line with this limit.

The current list of comparators is: 

Associated British Foods Greencore
Big Food Group Kerry
Bulmer Northern Foods
Cadbury Schweppes Robert Wiseman Dairies
Devro Tate & Lyle
Express Unilever
Geest Uniq
Glanbia FTSE 250 (excluding Investment Companies)

The constituents of the comparator group remained the same
for the years ended 31 March 2002 and 2003 except that in
July 2002 Bulmer replaced Brake Brothers following the
delisting of that company’s shares.
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• Executive Share Option Scheme
The Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was
established on 30 July 1996. Part A is approved by the Inland
Revenue and Part B is an unapproved scheme. Options are
granted to participants at prices determined by the
Remuneration Committee which may not be less than the
market price of the shares as derived from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Official List at the time of grant.

Up until 21 July 2002 the options could not be exercised unless
the Company’s adjusted earnings per share had increased over
a three year period by the retail prices index RPI plus 6%.

After that date the EPS performance condition was made more
demanding and ESOS options granted after 21 July 2002 will
now only vest:

(a) if after 3 years EPS growth exceeds RPI growth by 9%,
(b) if condition (a) is not achieved, if after 4 years EPS growth

exceeds RPI growth by 12%,
(c) if condition (b) is not achieved, if after 5 years EPS growth

exceeds RPI growth by 15%.

Directors of the Company who are granted awards under the
LTISP are not granted additional share options under the ESOS
except in the case of promotion. Mr J W D Hall was granted
ESOS options over 86,746 shares on his promotion to Chief
Executive as set out on page 27. Currently Mr J W D Hall is the
only participant in ESOS subject to the new performance criteria
and no other options previously granted under ESOS remain
unexercised.

• Sharesave Scheme 
The Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme was first established on 
30 July 1996 and there have been four grant phases since that
date. It is open to all eligible employees and full time directors.
Employees enter into an approved savings contract over a three
or five year term to make monthly contributions up to an overall
maximum of £250 per month. At the end of the term employees
have the right to buy ordinary shares in the Company at a price
fixed at the time of the option grant. The price at which the
options may be offered may not be less than 80% of the market
price at the time of option grant.

• Pension Benefits
All executive directors are members of the Dairy Crest Group
Pension Fund which provides for a pension based upon an
executive’s final basic salary. No bonuses are pensionable.
Benefits are restricted by the Inland Revenue earnings cap and
the following supplementary arrangements are in effect. Messrs
Hall and Laurie are party to funded unapproved retirement
benefit schemes (“FURBS”). Under these defined contribution
schemes amounts of 42.7% and 49.2% of salary are contributed

by the Company to the FURBS of Mr Hall and Mr Laurie
respectively. The executive director is responsible for paying
income tax and national insurance contributions on the amounts
paid by the Company to the FURBS. Mr M Allen and Mr P
Thornton receive a salary supplement of 20% of base salary
above the earnings cap. Mr C D Roberts was not affected by 
the Inland Revenue earnings cap.

Benefits in kind 
These include the taxable value of company car benefits, life
assurance cover, company contributions to medical insurance
plans and relocation costs and allowances.

• Service contracts 
In accordance with best practice as set out in the Combined
Code, executive directors appointed or promoted after 1 April
2000 have a notice period not exceeding one year. All such
directors’ service contracts provide explicitly for termination
payments in the event of termination by the Company other
than on grounds of incapacity or in circumstances justifying
summary termination. Payments on termination are calculated,
depending on the age of the director, at 70–90% of the value of
annual salary, benefits, pension and bonus for the notice period.

Mr I C Laurie, who was appointed prior to 1 April 2000, has a
service contract which is subject to two years’ notice from the
Company. In the event of termination other than on grounds 
of incapacity or in circumstances justifying termination the
contract provides explicitly for a termination payment based 
on 18 months notice. The Remuneration Committee considers
that the arrangements for Mr Laurie’s service contract are
appropriate. Mr Laurie’s replacement, Mr A S N Murray, will 
have a service contract in line with the terms set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Details of the directors offering themselves for election and 
re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting are set
out in the Directors’ report on page 28.

Remuneration of non-executive directors
The remuneration of the non-executive Chairman is determined
by the Board following a recommendation by the Chief
Executive and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
in consultation with Monks Partnership. Other non-executive
directors receive a basic fee of £25,000 for their services plus a
sum of between £2,500 and £5,000 for the chairmanship of a
Board Committee. Their remuneration is determined by the
Board, also in consultation with Monks Partnership. The total
fees for non-executive directors remain within the limits set in
the Articles of Association. There are no pre-determined special
provisions for non-executive directors with regard to
compensation in the event of loss of office.
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Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March

Compensation 
for loss of Pension payments

Basic office/ Emoluments (excluding to defined
salary/fees Benefits retirement pension contributions) contribution schemes

2003 2003 2003 2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-executive chairman
S M D Oliver 110 – – 110 100 – –

Executive directors
P Allanson-Bailey (retired 30 September 2001) – – – – 82 – –
M Allen (appointed 19 July 2002) 142 24 – 166 – – –
W R Brown (left 7 June 2002) 49 11 667 727 245 28 112
J W D Hall 332 23 – 355 258 142 107
W J Houliston (retired 26 July 2002) 142 23 14 179 445 500 410
I C Laurie 258 27 – 285 259 127 123
C D Roberts (resigned 31 March 2003) 215 11 78 304 206 – –

1,138 119 759 2,016 1,495 797 752

Non-executive directors
D J Dugdale 25 – – 25 5 – –
R Fletcher (retired 19 July 2001) – – – – 10 – –
G E Grimstone 30 – – 30 30 – –
T H Jones (retired 29 May 2003) 27 – – 27 27 – –
P S Lewis 30 – – 30 30 – –

112 – – 112 102 – –

1,360 119 759 2,238 1,697 797 752

No bonuses were payable in respect of the years ended 31 March 2002 or 31 March 2003.

As noted in last year’s report, following the successful completion of the principal elements of the Unigate dairy and cheese business
integration programme, which commenced in July 2000, Mr W R Brown left the Group on 7 June 2002. A compensation payment
of £666,783 including a FURBS payment of £168,916 was paid to Mr W R Brown in June 2002 in accordance with the provisions 
of his service contract. Mr W J Houliston’s emoluments include an amount of £14,000 from being provided with his car at a cost of
£15,000 (market value £29,000) on his retirement as a director. Mr C D Roberts resigned as a director of the Company on 31 March
2003. He received a payment of £70,000 on leaving the Group on 16 May 2003 and he was provided with his car at a cost of
£8,175 (market value £16,350).

The information on pages 23 to 27 is subject to audit, except the details on service contracts on page 24 and the graph on total
shareholder return on page 26.
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Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration continued

Service Contracts
The service contracts and letters of appointment include the following terms.
Executive Directors Date of contract Notice period (months)

M Allen 18 July 2002 12
J W D Hall 18 July 2002 12
I C Laurie 4 June 2001 24
P Thornton 1 April 2003 12

Non-executive directors Letters of appointment

S M D Oliver 15 March 2001
D J Dugdale 17 January 2002
G E Grimstone 3 February 1999
P S Lewis 4 July 1996
H Mann 15 April 2003

None of the non-executive directors have service contracts. Letters of appointment provide for an initial period of three years. In the
case of Mr P S Lewis his appointment term has been extended on an annual basis.

Directors’ pension entitlements
The pension entitlements of the directors from the Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund, a defined benefits scheme, which have been
excluded from the table on page 23, were as follows:

Accumulated Accumulated Increase in Transfer value
total accrued total accrued accrued of increase

Length of pension at pension at pension during in accrued
service 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 the year pension

Age Years £000 £000 £000 £000

M Allen 43 11.6 26 22 3 13
W R Brown 58 10.3 16 19 1 23
J W D Hall 53 11.5 37 34 3 31
W J Houliston 60 12.25 16 20 1 12
I C Laurie 56 7.75 13 11 2 17
C D Roberts 47 25.0 96 83 11 72

The increase in accrued pension during the year excludes the effect of inflation of 1.7% (impact of which is less than £1,000 for each director) and is after deducting the
director’s contributions.

The transfer value of each director’s accrued benefits at the end of the financial year is set out below. The transfer values shown in
the table have been calculated in accordance with actuarial guidance note GN11. For directors more than 10 years from retirement
the transfer value reflects the level of the FTSE All Share Index which fell substantially between 1 April 2002 and 31 March 2003.
For directors within 10 years of retirement the transfer value is progressively based on the yield on UK Index Linked Gilts.

Directors Movement less
As at As at contributions directors’

31 March 2003 1 April 2002 in the year contributions
£000 £000 £000 £000

M Allen 133 158 5 (30)
W R Brown 382 291 1 90
J W D Hall 406 428 5 (27)
W J Houliston 363 340 2 21
I C Laurie 167 151 5 11
C D Roberts 684 821 11 (148)

Mr W R Brown left on 7 June 2002 with an early retirement pension of £16,286 pa and received a cash lump sum of £44,626. 
Mr Houliston retired on 26 July 2002 and received a cash lump sum of £45,562 and a pension of £16,421 pa. Their transfer values at
31 March 2003 include the value of the cash lump sum and pension payments received during the year.
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Directors’ shareholdings
The interests of the directors at the end of the year in the ordinary share capital of the Company were as follows:

As at As at
31 March 2003 1 April 2002

Beneficial Beneficial

M Allen* 1,342 1,342†

J W D Hall* 111,450 105,485
I C Laurie* 135,373 138,436
C D Roberts* 4,051 4,051
D J Dugdale 10,999 10,999
G E Grimstone 10,000 10,000
T H Jones 18,305 18,305
P S Lewis 5,000 5,000
S M D Oliver 30,000 30,000

*These directors are potential beneficiaries of the ESOP and QUEST. In addition to the shares noted above under beneficial interests they are also deemed to have a
beneficial interest in all the shares held by the ESOP and QUEST (see Note 13 on page 40 and Note 21 on page 44).
†At date of appointment.

Mr M Allen is also absolutely entitled to 15,900 shares awarded under the 1998 LTISP.

No director holds a non-beneficial interest in the Company’s share capital. Mr P Thornton held 2,230 shares in the Company on
1 April 2003, being the date of his appointment as a director. There have been no changes in directors’ shareholdings between
31 March 2003 and 10 June 2003. The above interests exclude any rights to acquire shares under the LTISP arrangements which
are set out below.

Long-term incentive share plan awards
Details of the maturity of LTISP awards granted in 1998 was set out in the 2002 Annual Report. Exercise of options previously
vested are set out on page 27.

Movements in LTISP awards for directors who have left the Company during the year are as follows:

As at As at
1 April date of

2002 Exercised leaving

W J Houliston 241,763 (97,594) 144,169
W R Brown 133,076 – 133,076

Details of the exercise of Mr W J Houliston’s LTISP award are set out on page 27.

The performance conditions, set out on page 21, achieved in respect of the LTISP awards granted on 1 July 1999 (market price on
award 291.5 pence) and 19 July 2000 (market price on award 178.5 pence) have resulted in a 100% entitlement for each director.
Each executive director listed below is now entitled to exercise these LTISP awards. The value of these awards based on the mid-
market price of the shares of 327.5 pence at the close of business on 31 March 2003 is as follows:

As at Added As at Value
1 April during 31 March 31 March

2002 the year* 2003 2003
Number Number Number £

M Allen 67,410† 3,196 70,606 231,235
J W D Hall 145,925 6,921 152,846 500,571
I C Laurie 145,925 6,921 152,846 500,571

1,232,377
*Additional shares awarded representing reinvestment of dividends
†At date of appointment.



Details of awards granted in the years 2001 and 2002, which will be exercisable at the stated dates subject to the performance
conditions being fully satisfied, are as follows:

As at Granted As at Date when
1 April during 31 March options

2002 the year* Lapsed 2003 exercisable

M Allen 26,310† 1,248 – 27,558 01.04.04
– 45,430 – 45,430 01.04.05

J W D Hall 56,705 2,689 – 59,394 01.04.04
– 88,404 – 88,404 01.04.05

I C Laurie 56,705 2,689 – 59,394 01.04.04
– 63,848 – 63,848 01.04.05

C D Roberts 45,363 2,151 (13,842) 33,672 16.05.03
– 54,025 (54,025) – –

*Includes additional shares representing reinvestment of dividends.
†At date of appointment.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 now require companies to provide by graph an analysis of their performance
over time. The graph below sets out for the five years ended 31 March 2003 the total shareholder return of Dairy Crest Group plc
and the performance of the Food Processor sector of the FTSE and of the FTSE 250 index (excluding Investment Companies) of
which the Company is a constituent member.
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Directors’ options (ESOS and Sharesave)

As at Granted Exercised As at Exercise Date when
1 April during during the 31 March price options Expiry

2002 the year year Lapsed 2003 (pence) exercisable date

M Allen 443*† 798 – – 1,241 282 01.03.05 31.08.05

J W D Hall 104,244 – (104,244) – – 155
– 86,746 – – 86,746 415 22.07.05 21.07.12

177* 1,064 – – 1,241* 282 01.03.05 31.08.05

I C Laurie 97,226 – (97,226) – – 155
15,873 – (15,873) – – 189

177* 1,064 – – 1,241* 282 01.03.05 31.08.05

C D Roberts 177* 1,064 – – 1,241¥

As at Granted Exercise
1 April during Exercised pre Held at date price

Retired Directors 2002 the year retirement of leaving (pence)

W J Houliston 
(retired 26 July 2002) 68,079 – (68,079) – 155

W R Brown 88,709 – 88,709 155
(left 7 June 2002) 1,590* 122 – 1,712 282
*SAYE options.
†At date of appointment.
¥At date of resignation.

The mid-market price of the above shares as at the close of business on 31 March 2003 was 327.5 pence per share. During the year
between 1 April 2002 and 31 March 2003 the mid-market closing price ranged from 297.5 pence per share to 566 pence per share.
Performance conditions are set out on page 22.

During the year executive directors exercised options and effected market sales as follows:

Market Date of
ESOS ESOS Price exercise/

155 pence 189 pence LTISP Total Pence Sold Retained sale

J W D Hall 104,244 – 66,538 170,782 467 165,000 5,782 20.06.02

W J Houliston 68,079 – 97,594 165,673 467 165,673 – 20.06.02

I C Laurie 97,226 15,873 33,380 146,479 467 130,606 15,873 20.06.02

G E Grimstone, Chairman of Remuneration Committee
9 June 2003
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Directors’ report

The directors of Dairy Crest Group plc present their seventh
annual report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2003. 

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Group is the manufacture and
trading of milk and dairy products.

Review of operations
The Group’s operations and future developments are dealt with
in the Chief Executive’s review, Operational review and Financial
review on pages 3 to 18.

Results and dividends
The consolidated profit and loss account is on page 30. The
profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £36.6 million
(2002 – £21.6 million). The directors recommend a final 
dividend of 11.3 pence per share which, together with the
interim dividend of 5.1 pence per share paid on 30 January
2003, makes a total dividend for the year of 16.4 pence per
share. If approved, the dividend will be paid on 11 August 2003
to shareholders on the register on 11 July 2003.

Fixed assets
The directors are of the opinion that the current market 
value in existing use of the Group’s property interests is 
around £25 million above the value shown in the financial
statements.

Directors
A list of the directors at the end of the year is set out on page 19.

Mr W J Houliston retired from the Board on 26 July 2002. 
Mr W R Brown retired from the Board and left the Group 
on 7 June 2002.
Mr C D Roberts retired from the Board on 31 March 2003 and
left the Group on 16 May 2003. 
Mr T H Jones retired from the Board on 29 May 2003.

In accordance with Articles of Association Mr P S Lewis retires
by rotation and being eligible seeks re-election at this year’s
Annual General Meeting. Mr I C Laurie also retires by rotation
but will not seek re-election at the Annual General Meeting and
he will leave the Group in August 2003.

Mr M Allen, Mr P Thornton and Mr H Mann were appointed to
the Board on 19 July 2002, 1 April 2003 and 30 May 2003
respectively. As they were appointed during the year they will
retire at this year’s Annual General Meeting in accordance with
the Articles of Association and will seek election.

In addition to the directors listed on page 19 the Group has
announced the appointment of Mr A S N Murray to the Board
as Group Finance Director from September 2003.

Details of the directors’ remuneration, service contracts and
interests in shares are given in the Report of the Board on
Directors’ remuneration on pages 21 to 27. Non-executive directors
do not have service agreements. A brief biography of each of the

directors which includes their membership of the Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration committees is shown on page 19.

Share capital
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company,
together with details of the shares issued during the year, are
shown in note 20 on page 43. So far as the Company is 
aware, at 23 May 2003, the following institution held an interest
of 3% or more in the capital of the Company on behalf of
themselves and others.
• Credit Suisse Asset Management Limited 7%

Employee involvement
The importance of good communication is recognised by the
Company. There are also well-established consultation and
negotiating arrangements with recognised trade unions.

Employment of disabled persons
The Company considers applicants for posts compatible with
their disability. Staff who become disabled are retained wherever
practicable.

Charitable and political donations
Charitable donations amounted to £0.1 million (2002 – £0.1
million) in the year. Small contributions, mainly of product, were
also made to local charities. No contributions were made to any
political party.

Supplier payment policy
Payment dates are established according to the agreed date of
delivery of goods or provision of services and the receipt of a
correct invoice. The Group agrees the length of payment terms
with each of its suppliers as part of the overall purchasing
agreement. It is the Group’s policy to abide by these agreed
terms of payment. The number of days’ purchases in the Group’s
creditors at 31 March 2003 was 25 days (2002 – 27 days).

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to continue
as auditors of the Company. A resolution to reappoint Ernst &
Young LLP as the Company’s auditors will be put to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the Chartered
Accountants’ Hall, Moorgate Place, London EC2P 2BJ on
Thursday 17 July 2003 at 11.00am. Details of the resolutions to
be proposed, including an item of special business, are given in
the Notice of Annual General Meeting and Explanatory Notes
which appear on pages 54 to 56.

The directors believe that the resolutions are in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and
unanimously recommend that shareholders should vote in
favour of all resolutions.

By order of the Board
R J Newton, Secretary 
9 June 2003
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
for the financial statements

The directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or
loss of the Group for the financial year.

The directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements
on pages 30 to 50, the Company has used the going concern
concept and appropriate accounting policies, consistently
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements
and estimates, and that all accounting standards which they
consider to be applicable have been followed.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group and which enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

In adopting a going concern basis in the financial statements
the directors, after making enquiries, have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.
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Consolidated profit and loss account
Year ended 31 March 2003

Year ended 31 March 2003 Year ended
31 March 2002

Note £m £m £m £m

Before Exceptional Total Total
exceptional items items and 

and goodwill goodwill 
amortisation amortisation 

Turnover
Group and share of joint ventures 2 1,326.1 – 1,326.1 1,366.7 

Continuing operations
– Ongoing 1,298.2 – 1,298.2 1,366.7 
– Acquisition 27.9 – 27.9 –

Less:
Share of joint ventures – ongoing 2 (79.6) – (79.6) (80.4)

Group turnover 1 1,246.5 – 1,246.5 1,286.3 

Operating costs before exceptional items and 
goodwill amortisation 3 (1,154.1) – (1,154.1) (1,197.3)
Operating exceptional items 5 – (30.4) (30.4) (41.6)
Goodwill amortisation – (7.5) (7.5) (2.3)

Operating costs 3 (1,154.1) (37.9) (1,192.0) (1,241.2)

Group operating profit 92.4 (37.9) 54.5 45.1 
Share of profits in joint ventures – ongoing 2,5 5.1 (1.0) 4.1 1.4 

Total operating profit
Group and share of joint ventures 2,4 97.5 (38.9) 58.6 46.5 

Continuing operations
– Ongoing 92.7 (38.3) 54.4 46.5
– Acquisition 4.8 (0.6) 4.2 –

Profits on disposal of properties 5 – 9.9 9.9 1.7 
Net interest payable 
– Group 6 (20.2) – (20.2) (18.7)
– Share of joint ventures (0.5) – (0.5) (0.6)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 76.8 (29.0) 47.8 28.9 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 7 (20.6) 9.4 (11.2) (7.3)

Profit for the year before minority interests 56.2 (19.6) 36.6 21.6 
Equity minority interests (0.2) – (0.2) (0.3)

Profit for the year after minority interests 56.0 (19.6) 36.4 21.3 
Dividends 8 (19.8) – (19.8) (18.2)

Transfer to reserves 21 36.2 (19.6) 16.6 3.1 

Basic earnings per share (p) 9 30.2 18.0 
Adjusted earnings per share (p) 9 46.4 45.2 
Diluted earnings per share (p) 9 29.6 17.3 

Statement of Group total recognised gains and losses
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2003 31 March 2002
£m £m

Profit for the year after minority interests 36.4 21.3 
Translation differences on foreign currency investments 0.9 0.1 

Total recognised gains for the year 37.3 21.4 
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Balance sheets
as at 31 March 2003

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note £m £m £m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 11 107.8 39.3 – –
Tangible assets 12 345.1 323.7 – –
Investments 13 8.5 7.5 362.9 354.0
Investments in joint ventures 14

Share of gross assets 25.7 23.5 – –
Share of gross liabilities (22.2) (22.0) – –
Reclassification to provisions 19 – 0.1 – –

3.5 1.6 – – 

464.9 372.1 362.9 354.0 

Current assets
Stocks 15 210.5 224.5 – – 
Debtors 16 139.8 143.1 1.0 1.0 
Cash at bank and in hand 9.8 2.6 0.5 – 

360.1 370.2 1.5 1.0 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 17 (23.8) (7.0) – – 
Other creditors 17 (194.4) (208.8) (260.7) (255.0)

(218.2) (215.8) (260.7) (255.0)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 141.9 154.4 (259.2) (254.0)

Total assets less current liabilities 606.8 526.5 103.7 100.0 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 18 (331.2) (280.5) – – 
Other creditors 18 (9.2) (4.5) – – 

Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (31.1) (26.2) – – 

Net assets 235.3 215.3 103.7 100.0 

Capital and reserves
Called up equity share capital 20 31.0 30.9 31.0 30.9 
Equity reserves

Share premium account 21 24.2 23.3 24.2 23.3 
Merger reserve 21 55.9 55.9 – – 
Profit and loss account 21 115.1 96.6 48.5 45.8 

Equity shareholders’ funds 22 226.2 206.7 103.7 100.0 

Equity minority interests 9.1 8.6 – – 

235.3 215.3 103.7 100.0 

S M D Oliver, Chairman

J W D Hall, Chief Executive

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 9 June 2003.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 31 March 2003

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

Note £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23(a) 104.9 48.5 
Dividends from joint ventures 1.2 1.1

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest paid (22.0) (18.7)

Net cash outflow from returns on
investments and servicing of finance (22.0) (18.7)

Taxation paid (4.1) (5.3)

Capital expenditure
Payments to acquire fixed assets (net of grants) (61.6) (60.2)
Purchase of shares by Dairy Crest ESOP (3.3) (2.7)
Proceeds from disposals of shares 3.3 2.0 
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 34.6 7.9 

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure (27.0) (53.0)

Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of businesses 24 (94.3) (3.2)
Receipt from sale of investment in subsidiary undertaking 23(c) 0.9 5.0 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from acquisitions and disposals (93.4) 1.8 

Equity dividends paid (18.6) (17.0)

Net cash outflow before financing (59.0) (42.6)

Financing
Increase in long-term borrowings 48.9 33.8 
Increase in short-term borrowings 17.0 2.7 
Decrease in loan notes (0.3) (0.4)
Issue of ordinary share capital 1.0 4.4 
Finance lease repayments (0.4) (0.2)

Net cash inflow from financing 66.2 40.3 

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 7.2 (2.3)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Net debt at beginning of the year (284.9) (246.3)
Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 7.2 (2.3)
Increase in short-term borrowings (17.0) (2.7)
Increase in long-term borrowings (48.9) (33.8)
Decrease in loan notes 0.3 0.4 
Exchange differences on long-term borrowings (1.7) – 
Finance leases incepted (0.6) (0.4)
Cash outflow from decrease in lease financing 0.4 0.2 

Net debt at end of the year 23(b) (345.2) (284.9)
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Accounting policies

1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable
accounting standards.

2 Consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the accounts of
Dairy Crest Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings drawn
up to 31 March each year and include the appropriate share
of the results and net assets of its joint ventures. Subsidiary
undertakings and joint ventures acquired during the year are
consolidated from the date of acquisition.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries
are translated into sterling at year end exchange rates. The
results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into sterling at
average rates of exchange for the year. Exchange differences
arising from the retranslation of the net investment in foreign
subsidiaries at year end exchange rates, less exchange
differences on borrowings which finance or provide a hedge
against those undertakings, are taken to reserves and are
reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

3 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions since 1 April 1998, comprising
the difference between the cost of shares or businesses
acquired and the fair value of the identifiable net assets at the
date of acquisition, is capitalised as an intangible fixed asset
and amortised through the profit and loss account over the
estimated useful life of the asset, not exceeding 20 years. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions since 1 April 2002 will normally
be amortised over 10 years. The amortisation period for
goodwill arising on acquisitions since 1 April 1998 has been
amended from 20 years to 10 years.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 1 April 1998 has been
charged against the merger reserve and has not been reinstated
following the implementation of FRS 10. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at the end of the first full year following acquisition
and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If a
subsidiary or business is disposed of, any goodwill arising on
acquisition that was written off directly to reserves or that has
not been amortised through the profit and loss account is taken
into account in determining the profit or loss on sale.

4 Turnover
Turnover represents the amount invoiced, net of VAT, for goods
and services supplied to customers.

5 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Interest
is capitalised on major capital projects during the period of
construction based on the Group’s average cost of borrowings.

6 Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of tangible fixed
assets, excluding freehold land, over their estimated useful lives
in equal annual instalments over the following periods:

Freehold buildings – 25 years
Leasehold land and buildings – 25 years or, if shorter, the

period of the lease
Plant and equipment – 4 to 20 years
Vehicles – 4 to 10 years

7 Government and other grants
Regional development and other grants received for the
purchase of fixed assets are included in creditors and
subsequently released to profit over the useful life of the asset
by equal instalments.

8 Leased assets
Assets acquired under finance leases are included in the
balance sheet at cost less depreciation. The net present value
of future lease rentals is included as a liability on the balance
sheet. The interest element of lease rentals is charged to the
profit and loss account in the year.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit
and loss account on the straight line basis.

9 Investments
Joint ventures are those in which the Group holds a long-term
interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the gross equity method.
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ profits is included in the
consolidated profit and loss account and its share of their
attributable net assets is included in the Group balance sheet.

10 Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost (including attributable
production overheads) and net realisable value. Consumable
stores are valued at cost, net of provisions where appropriate.

11 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is recognised using the incremental liability
approach in respect of all timing differences that have originated
but have not been reversed by the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent to which they are
recoverable.

12 Pensions
Pension costs are recognised on a systematic basis in order to
spread the costs of providing retirement benefits evenly over the
service lives of the employees concerned. Any excess or
deficiency of the actuarial value of assets over the actuarial
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value of liabilities is allocated over the average remaining service
lives of current employees on an even percentage of payroll.

13 Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is written off
as incurred.

14 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)
The shares in the Company held by the Dairy Crest Employees’
Share Ownership Plan Trust are recorded in the balance sheet
and are classified within fixed assets. The expected net cost of
benefits is charged against profits over the performance period
during which the benefits are earned by the employees.

15 Foreign currencies
Forward foreign exchange contracts are accounted for as
hedges when they relate to a foreign currency asset or liability
that is probable and which involves the same currency as the
hedged item. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, or the forward rate where
hedged. Exchange rate differences are charged to the profit and
loss account.

16 Derivative instruments
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to reduce
exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group also
uses interest rate swaps to reduce interest rate exposures. The
Group considers that its derivative instruments qualify for hedge
accounting when certain criteria are met as set out below:

Forward foreign currency contracts
The criteria for forward foreign currency contracts are that the
instrument must be related to a foreign currency asset or liability
that is probable and whose characteristics have been identified,
it must involve the same currency as the hedged item and it
must reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange movements
on the Group’s operations.

The rates under such contracts are used to record the hedged
item. As a result, gains and losses are offset against the foreign
exchange gains and losses on the related financial assets and
liabilities, or where the instrument is used to hedge a committed
or probable future transaction, are deferred until the transaction
occurs.

Interest rate swaps
The Group’s criteria for interest rate swaps are that the
instrument must be related to an asset or a liability and it must
change the character of the interest rate by converting a
variable rate to a fixed rate or vice versa.

Interest differentials are recognised by accruing the net interest
payable. Interest rate swaps are not revalued to fair value or
shown in the Group’s balance sheet at the year end.
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1 Turnover
Turnover originates principally in the United Kingdom. Analysis of turnover by destination:

Continuing operations Year ended Year ended
Ongoing Acquisition 31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m £m £m

United Kingdom 1,130.5 26.5 1,157.0 1,209.2 
Other EU countries 27.6 0.6 28.2 37.4 
Rest of the world 60.5 0.8 61.3 39.7 

Group 1,218.6 27.9 1,246.5 1,286.3 

2 Segmental information
Analysis of turnover, operating profit and net operating assets of continuing operations by business segment:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Turnover
Consumer Foods 814.8 841.6
Continuing operations
– Ongoing 786.9 841.6
– Acquisition 27.9 –
Food Services 511.3 525.1

Group and share of joint ventures 1,326.1 1,366.7
Less: Share of joint ventures – ongoing (79.6) (80.4)

Group turnover 1,246.5 1,286.3

Year ended 31 March 2003 Year ended 31 March 2002
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Before operating Operating Total Before operating Operating Total
exceptional exceptional exceptional exceptional

items and items and items and items and
goodwill goodwill goodwill goodwill

amortisation amortisation amortisation amortisation

Operating profit
Consumer Foods 62.4 (34.4) 28.0 63.0 (39.2) 23.8
Continuing operations
– Ongoing 52.5 (30.0) 22.5 59.0 (36.6) 22.4 
– Acquisition 4.8 (3.4) 1.4 – – – 
– Share of joint ventures 5.1 (1.0) 4.1 4.0 (2.6) 1.4 
Food Services 35.1 (4.5) 30.6 30.0 (7.3) 22.7 

Group and share of joint ventures 97.5 (38.9) 58.6 93.0 (46.5) 46.5 

At At
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Net operating assets
Consumer Foods 548.4 440.3 
Food Services 90.3 111.7 

Group and share of joint ventures 638.7 552.0 

Net operating assets comprise net assets excluding cash, borrowings, tax and dividend creditors.
Consumer Foods include net operating assets relating to St Ivel Spreads of £85.3 million.
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3 Operating costs Year ended 31 March 2003 Year ended 31 March 2002 
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Before operating Operating Goodwill Total Before operating Operating Goodwill Total
exceptional exceptional amortisation exceptional exceptional amortisation

items and items items and items
goodwill goodwill 

amortisation amortisation 

Cost of sales 933.5 26.9 – 960.4 972.4 32.6 – 1,005.0 
Distribution costs 175.6 – – 175.6 175.9 0.6 – 176.5 
Administration costs 45.0 3.5 7.5 56.0 49.0 8.4 2.3 59.7

1,154.1 30.4 7.5 1,192.0 1,197.3 41.6 2.3 1,241.2 

The total figures for 2003 include the following amounts relating to the St Ivel Spreads acquisition. Cost of sales £17.4 million; 
Distribution costs £2.8 million; Administration costs £6.3 million (including operating exceptional items £0.6 million and goodwill
amortisation £2.8 million).

4 Operating profit Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation – owned assets 35.2 36.2

– assets held under finance leases 0.6 0.8
Amortisation of goodwill 7.5 2.3
Release of grants (1.0) (1.0)
Operating lease rentals – plant and equipment 1.0 1.1

– other operating leases 15.5 13.2
Research and development expenditure 1.5 1.5
Auditors’ remuneration – audit fees 0.3 0.3

Fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services mainly related to the acquisition of St Ivel Spreads and tax advice 
and amounted to £0.2 million (2002 – £0.2 million).

5 Exceptional items Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Operating exceptional items
Redundancy costs 4.7 14.6
Fixed asset write-downs 13.7 14.6
Consumable and engineering stock write-offs 0.6 1.8
Business integration costs 10.8 10.6
St Ivel Spreads integration costs 0.6 – 

30.4 41.6
Share of joint venture’s net loss on closure of site and related reorganisation costs 1.0 2.6 

31.4 44.2 

Non-operating exceptional items
Profits on disposal of properties 8.6 –
Share of joint venture’s profit on disposal of property 1.3 1.7

9.9 1.7 

Operating exceptional items in 2003 principally relate to the integration of the Unigate dairy and cheese business which was
completed in December 2002. They also include £0.6 million of costs relating to the integration of the St Ivel Spreads business
acquired in November 2002.

6 Net interest payable (Group) Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 20.2 18.7

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts is stated after capitalising £1.4 million (2002 – £1.1 million) of interest on expenditure
on capital projects at the Group’s average cost of borrowing of 6.0%.
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7 Taxation Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

The taxation charge comprises:
Corporation tax at 30% (2002 – 30%) 7.4 8.4 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 

Current tax (2.2) (1.2)
Transfer to deferred tax (0.6) (1.9)

Share of joint ventures 1.6 0.6 

6.2 5.9 
Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences 4.4 (0.5)
Transfer from current tax 0.6 1.9 

11.2 7.3 

The taxation credit in respect of operating exceptional items is £9.0 million (2002 – £13.1 million). The tax credit in respect of 
goodwill amortisation is £0.8 million (2002 – Nil). The tax charge in respect of non-operating exceptional items is £0.4 million 
(2002 – £0.5 million).

The tax rate for the year is lower (2002 – lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%).
The differences are explained below:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 47.8 28.9 
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2002 – 30%) 14.3 8.7 
Effects of:
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior years

Current tax (2.2) (1.2)
Transfer to deferred tax (0.6) (1.9)

Adjustments in respect of joint ventures 0.1 (0.2)
Profits offset by available tax relief (3.6) (1.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.6 1.4 
Deferred tax timing differences (4.4) 0.5 

6.2 5.9 

Factors that may affect the future tax charge 
Based on current capital investment plans, the Group expects that future years’ capital allowances will exceed depreciation.

8 Dividends Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Interim dividend paid of 5.1p (2002 – 4.8p) per share 6.2 5.8 
Proposed final dividend of 11.3p (2002 – 10.4p) per share 13.6 12.4 

19.8 18.2 

The proposed final dividend will be paid on 11 August 2003 to shareholders on the register on 11 July 2003.

9 Earnings per share
Earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2003 have been calculated on the basis of the profit for the year of £36.4 million
(2002 – £21.3 million) and the weighted average number of shares in issue, totalling 120,709,731 (2002 – 118,285,716). 

The shares held by the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (“ESOP”) and the Dairy Crest Qualifying Employee Share
Ownership Trust (“QUEST”) are excluded from the weighted average number of shares in issue used in the calculation of earnings
per share in accordance with FRS 14.
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9 Earnings per share continued
To show earnings per share on a consistent basis, adjusted earnings per share have been calculated as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Profit for the year 36.4 21.3 
Goodwill amortisation (net of taxation) 6.7 2.3 
Operating exceptional items (net of taxation) 22.4 31.1 
Profit on disposal of properties (net of taxation) (9.5) (1.2)

Adjusted earnings 56.0 53.5 

Adjusted earnings per share 46.4p 45.2p 

Diluted earnings per share have been calculated on the basis of earnings for the year of £36.4 million (2002 – £21.3 million) and an
average number of shares of 122,779,337 (2002 – 122,784,000) representing the weighted average number of shares totalling
120,709,731 (2002 – 118,285,716) and the dilutive effect of options amounting to 2,069,606 shares (2002 – 4,498,284).

10 Remuneration of directors and employees Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£000 £000

Directors
Salaries and benefits 1,257 1,495 
Fees to non-executive directors 222 202 

Emoluments 1,479 1,697 

Compensation for loss of office/retirement 759 93 

Payments to defined contribution pension schemes 797 752 

Gain on exercise of Sharesave and ESOS options 885 2,966 

Highest paid director
Salary and benefits 355 445 

Payments to defined contribution scheme 142 410 

Defined benefit accrued pension 37 19 

Gain on exercise of Sharesave and ESOS options 325 1,070 

Long term incentive scheme awards which commenced during 1999 and 2000 vested on 31 March 2003. The directors and the
highest paid director were entitled to shares valued at that date of £1,232,377 (2002 – £718,098) and £500,571 (2002 – £239,430)
respectively. These awards are not exercisable until 11 June 2003. 
Further information relating to directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2003 is provided in the Report of the Board on
Directors’ remuneration on pages 21 to 27.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

number number

Employees
Average number of employees:
Production 2,829 3,071 
Sales, distribution and administration 4,660 4,908 

Total employees 7,489 7,979 

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Remuneration of employees, including directors:
Wages and salaries 163.8 170.4 
Social security costs 12.4 13.1 
Other pension costs 4.6 4.5 

180.8 188.0 

Remuneration excludes redundancy costs included in Note 5 – Exceptional items.
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11 Intangible assets
Goodwill

Group £m

Cost
At 1 April 2002 43.5
Additions 76.0 

At 31 March 2003 119.5 

Amortisation
At 1 April 2002 4.2
Amortisation charge 7.5

At 31 March 2003 11.7

Net book value at 31 March 2003 107.8

Net book value at 31 March 2002 39.3 

Goodwill is being amortised over its estimated economic life as set out on page 33.

12 Tangible assets Vehicles and
Land and plant & Assets in course
buildings equipment of construction Total

Group £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2002 193.2 338.6 27.5 559.3
Acquisitions 6.8 14.4 0.2 21.4
Additions 4.6 20.2 43.6 68.4
Interest capitalised (Note 6) – 1.4 – 1.4
Disposals (27.0) (44.7) (0.7) (72.4)
Transfers and reclassifications 8.4 19.0 (27.4) –
Exchange – 1.4 – 1.4 

At 31 March 2003 186.0 350.3 43.2 579.5 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2002 50.3 185.3 – 235.6
Charge 5.6 30.2 – 35.8
Impairment 3.6 10.1 – 13.7
Disposals (8.2) (43.4) – (51.6)
Transfers 1.1 (1.1) – –
Exchange – 0.9 – 0.9 

At 31 March 2003 52.4 182.0 – 234.4 

Net book value at 31 March 2003 133.6 168.3 43.2 345.1 

Net book value at 31 March 2002 142.9 153.3 27.5 323.7 

The aggregate amount of interest capitalised in the cost of tangible fixed assets is £4.7 million (2002 – £3.3 million).

2003 2002
£m £m

Net book value of land and buildings comprises:
Freehold 119.4 129.5
Leasehold – over 50 years 8.1 8.0

– under 50 years 6.1 5.4

133.6 142.9 

Capitalised leases included in plant and equipment comprise:
Cost 43.3 42.5
Depreciation (41.7) (40.9)

Net book value 1.6 1.6 
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13 Investments Shares held
by ESOP

Group £m

Cost
At 1 April 2002 7.5 
Additions 3.3 
Disposals (2.3)

At 31 March 2003 8.5 

Shares in Loans to
Shares held subsidiary subsidiary

by ESOP undertakings undertakings Total
Company £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2002 7.5 96.5 250.0 354.0 
Additions 3.3 – 7.9 11.2 
Disposals (2.3) – – (2.3)

At 31 March 2003 8.5 96.5 257.9 362.9 

Shares issued to the QUEST, which have not been issued to parties outside the Group, have been deducted from the profit and loss
reserve account in the prior year. Subsequent exercises of these shares have been credited to the profit and loss reserve account,
as set out in Note 21.

At 31 March 2003 the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (“ESOP”) held 2,833,877 shares (2002 – 2,907,734
shares) in the Company at a cost of £8.5 million (2002 – £7.5 million). The ESOP was established in August 1996 to purchase
shares in the Company in order to hedge certain future obligations of the Group including shares awarded under the Dairy Crest
Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”) and the Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”). During the year the Trustee
of the ESOP purchased 740,000 shares in the Company at a cost of £3.3 million and issued 813,857 shares following exercises of
LTISP options. The market value of the shares held by the ESOP which are listed on the London Stock Exchange was £9.4 million
at 31 March 2003 (2002 – £13.9 million).

During 2000 the Company subscribed for £250 million Discounted Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2030 (“Loan Stock”) in Dairy
Crest Limited. At the Company’s option, the Loan Stock may be converted into 2,750,000 preference shares with a nominal value of
£100 each on or after 30 September 2002.
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13 Investments continued
At 31 March 2003 the principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures were:

Percentage of
ordinary share

Business capital held

Subsidiary undertakings:
Dairy Crest Limited Manufacture of dairy products 100%
Millway Dairy Crest Limited* Manufacture of Stilton and other speciality cheeses 100%
Philpot Dairy Products Limited* Trading in dairy products 100%
Wexford Creamery Limited* Manufacture of dairy products 80%
Haverfordwest Cheese Limited* Manufacture of dairy products 80%
English Butter Marketing Company Limited* Promotion of the “Country Life” brand 56%

Joint venture:
Yoplait Dairy Crest Limited* Manufacture, marketing and distribution of fresh dairy products 49%

The principal place of operation and country of incorporation of all subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures is 
England and Wales except for Wexford Creamery Limited which is in Ireland.

*Investments are held by Dairy Crest Limited.

14 Investments in joint ventures Group
£m

At 1 April 2002 1.6 
Reclassification from provisions at 1 April 2002 (0.1)
Share of retained profits 2.0 

At 31 March 2003 3.5 

Group

2003 2002
Analysis of underlying assets: £m £m

Share of fixed assets 8.8 10.8
Share of current assets 16.9 12.7

Share of gross assets 25.7 23.5
Share of liabilities due within one year (22.2) (22.0)
Reclassification to provisions – 0.1

Share of net assets 3.5 1.6

15 Stocks Group

2003 2002
£m £m

Raw materials and consumable stores 19.1 15.4
Finished goods 191.4 209.1

210.5 224.5
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16 Debtors Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Trade debtors 115.6 122.8 – –
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings – – 1.0 1.0
Amounts owed by joint ventures 2.1 2.6 – –
Other debtors 15.9 11.1 – –
Prepayments and accrued income 6.2 6.6 – –

139.8 143.1 1.0 1.0

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Borrowings
Bank loans 22.1 5.1 – – 
Loan notes 1.4 1.7 – – 
Obligations under finance leases 0.3 0.2 – – 

23.8 7.0 – – 

Other creditors
Trade creditors 93.7 102.4 – –
Dividends payable 13.6 12.4 13.6 12.4
Amounts payable to subsidiary undertaking – – 243.7 242.6
Corporation tax 13.5 13.3 3.4 –
Other taxation and social security 4.4 4.7 – –
Grants 0.8 1.1 – –
Other creditors 25.3 22.7 – –
Accruals 43.1 52.2 – –

194.4 208.8 260.7 255.0

18 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year Group

2003 2002
£m £m

Borrowings
Bank loans 330.8 280.2 
Obligations under finance leases – between one and two years 0.4 0.3 

331.2 280.5 

Other creditors
Grants 9.2 4.5 
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19 Provisions for liabilities and charges Investments in Deferred
joint ventures taxation Total

£m £m £m

Group
At 1 April 2002 0.1 26.1 26.2
Profit and loss account charge – 4.4 4.4
Transfer from current tax – 0.6 0.6
Reclassification to investments (Note 14) (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2003 – 31.1 31.1

2003 2002
£m £m

Group
The deferred tax liability comprises:
Capital allowances 31.9 25.1 
Other timing differences (0.8) 1.0 

31.1 26.1

No deferred tax has been provided on capital gains due to the availability of capital losses.

20 Share capital
The Company has an authorised share capital of 240,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2002 – 240,000,000), of which
123,976,163 are issued and fully paid (2002 – 123,424,993).

During the year ended 31 March 2003, 551,170 shares of 25 pence each were issued at a premium of £0.9 million for an aggregate
consideration of £1.0 million as a result of the exercise of options under the Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”).

Employee share schemes:
Options granted under the ESOS to subscribe for the Company’s shares can be exercised up to 2012.

Under the Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme, options can be granted to eligible employees at a discount of up to 20% of the market
value of the shares at the date of grant.

The Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”) is a long-term incentive scheme. Awards are made to directors and senior
managers consisting of the right to acquire shares for a nominal price subject to the achievement of financial targets based on total
shareholder return over a three year period versus comparator companies and growth in earnings per share.

The shares held by the ESOP set out in Note 13 are available to satisfy awards under LTISP and ESOS and the shares held by the
QUEST are available to satisfy awards under the Sharesave Scheme. In aggregate, the Company has granted options on ESOS 
and Sharesave over the unissued share capital at prices between 151.2 pence and 415.0 pence exercisable at varying dates up to
14 December 2012 and grants under LTISP exercisable at dates up to 22 July 2012 as follows:

LTISP ESOS Sharesave
Number Number Scheme Number

Options outstanding at beginning of the year 3,345,041 635,816 2,695,992 
Options granted during the year 889,111 86,746 – 
Options exercised during the year (813,857) (551,170) (483,073) 
Options lapsed during the year (303,269) – (324,808) 

Options outstanding at end of the year 3,117,026 171,392 1,888,111
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21 Equity reserves Share Merger Profit and loss
premium reserve account

£m £m £m

Group
At 1 April 2002 23.3 55.9 96.6 
Issue of shares for cash 0.9 – – 
Retained profit for the year – – 16.6 
QUEST options exercised – – 1.0 
Exchange differences – – 0.9 

At 31 March 2003 24.2 55.9 115.1 

The cumulative amount of goodwill charged against the merger reserve is £86.8 million (2002 – £86.8 million).

Shares issued to the QUEST, which have not been issued to parties outside the Group, have been deducted from the profit and loss
reserve account in the prior year. Subsequent exercises of these shares are credited to the profit and loss reserve account.

At 31 March 2003 the QUEST held 415,796 shares (2002 – 898,869 shares) in the Company at a cost of £0.8 million (2002 – £1.8
million). During the year the QUEST issued 483,073 shares following exercises under the Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme. The market
value of the shares held by the QUEST which are listed on the London Stock Exchange was £1.4 million at 31 March 2003 (2002 –
£4.3 million). No shares were subscribed for by the QUEST during the year.

Share Profit and loss
premium account

£m £m

Company
At 1 April 2002 23.3 45.8
Issue of shares for cash 0.9 –
QUEST options exercised – 1.0
Profit for the year after dividends – 1.7

At 31 March 2003 24.2 48.5 

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, no separate profit and loss account is presented for the Company. The
profit for the year dealt with in the accounts of the Company is £21.5 million (2002 – £22.2 million) (including dividends received from
subsidiary undertakings of £20.0 million (2002 – £20.0 million)).

22 Reconciliation of movements in Group shareholders’ funds Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

Profit for the year 36.4 21.3 
Dividends (19.8) (18.2)

Retained profit for the year 16.6 3.1
Issue of shares for cash 1.0 4.4 
QUEST options exercised 1.0 (0.6)
Exchange differences 0.9 0.1 

Movement in the year 19.5 7.0
At beginning of the year 206.7 199.7

At end of the year 226.2 206.7
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23 Cash flow statement Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

£m £m

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
Operating profit for Group and share of joint ventures 58.6 46.5
Non-cash items:

Pensions (0.1) –
Operating exceptional items 14.3 17.2
Depreciation 35.8 37.0
Goodwill amortisation 7.5 2.3
Release of grants (1.0) (1.0)
Share of profits of joint ventures (4.1) (1.4)

Decrease/(increase) in stocks 18.6 (33.8)
Decrease in debtors 2.9 2.5
Decrease in creditors (27.6) (20.8)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 104.9 48.5 

Cash flows on operating exceptional items amounted to £16.1 million (2002 – £24.4 million) and relate principally to the integration
of acquisitions.

At Finance leases Exchange At
1 April 2002 Cash flow incepted movement 31 March 2003

£m £m £m £m £m

(b) Analysis of net debt
Cash at bank and in hand 2.6 7.2 – – 9.8
Short-term bank borrowings (5.1) (17.0) – – (22.1)
Loan notes (1.7) 0.3 – – (1.4)
Long-term bank borrowings (280.2) (48.9) – (1.7) (330.8)
Finance leases (0.5) 0.4 (0.6) – (0.7)

Total (284.9) (58.0) (0.6) (1.7) (345.2)

(c) Disposals
Outstanding consideration of £0.9 million was received on 2 April 2002 in relation to the disposal of 20% of the issued share capital
of Haverfordwest Cheese Limited on 1 January 2002 for £5.9 million.

24 Purchase of businesses
During the year ended 31 March 2003, business acquisitions and consideration comprised:

Other
St Ivel Spreads acquisition (a) acquisitions (b)

Book value Other fair value Book value
on acquisition Revaluations adjustments Fair Value on acquisition

£m £m £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets 22.3 (0.9) – 21.4 – 
Stocks 2.6 – – 2.6 – 
Other current assets 0.2 – – 0.2 – 
Current liabilities (3.1) – (2.8) (5.9) – 

22.0 (0.9) (2.8) 18.3 – 

Consideration:
Cash (including fees of £2.0 million) 88.5 5.8 

Goodwill 70.2 5.8 
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24 Purchase of businesses continued
(a) On 1 November 2002 the Group acquired the St Ivel Spreads business from Uniq Group for consideration (including fees) of £88.5
million. The book values of the assets and liabilities acquired have been taken from the Sale and Purchase agreement which were
derived from the management accounts of the underlying business at 1 November 2002. Revaluations relate to adjustments to the net
book value of plant and equipment to reflect their fair values. Other fair value adjustments relate to a provision for an onerous contract.

For the year ended 31 March 2002, St Ivel Spreads reported profit before tax of £12.6 million. For the seven months ended
31 October 2002 the profit before tax was £4.8 million under applicable accounting policies.

(b) During the year the Group acquired the goodwill of a number of bottled milk buyers for consideration of £5.8 million.

25 Contingent liabilities
Trading guarantees
The Group has provided guarantees and counter-indemnities which totalled £31.9 million at 31 March 2003 (2002 – £25.2 million).
This includes a guarantee for the liabilities amounting to £15.5 million (2002 – £14.1 million) (as defined in Section 5(c)(iii) of the
Companies (Amendment) Act 1986, Republic of Ireland) of Wexford Creamery Limited and subsidiaries, which are Irish registered
companies, for the financial year ended 31 March 2003. As a result Wexford Creamery Limited and subsidiaries are exempt from filing
statutory accounts with the Registrar of Companies in Ireland, under the provisions of Section 17 of the Irish Companies (Amendment)
Act 1986. 

The Company has provided guarantees to its bankers amounting to £330.8 million at 31 March 2003 (2002 – £280.2 million) and to
the bankers of one of its joint ventures of £10.5 million (2002 – £7.8 million).

26 Capital commitments Group

2003 2002
£m £m

The following future capital expenditure had been contracted at 31 March 23.5 13.1

27 Operating lease rentals Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other

2003 2003 2002 2002
£m £m £m £m

Rentals payable by the Group during the following year 
relate to commitments expiring:
Within one year 0.2 3.2 0.3 4.0 
Between one and five years 0.5 10.4 0.4 6.0 
After five years 2.7 0.6 2.3 2.0 

3.4 14.2 3.0 12.0 
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28 Pensions
At 31 March 2003 permanent staff of Dairy Crest Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings were eligible for membership of the 
Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund (“the Dairy Crest Fund”).

The Dairy Crest Fund, which is of the defined benefits type, is funded by contributions from employees and the Group.

The Group has continued to account for pensions in accordance with SSAP 24.

An actuarial assessment of the Dairy Crest Fund was carried out as at 31 March 2001 by the Fund’s actuary using the projected unit
method. The principal actuarial assumptions adopted for the assessment were that, over the long term, the annual rate of return on
the investments would be 2.5% higher than the increase in pensionable pay, 4.1% higher than the annual increase in present and
future pensions in payment and 4.75% higher than the normal level of annual net dividend yield receivable. 

At the date of the assessment, the market value of the Dairy Crest Fund assets amounted to £515.9 million. The actuarial value of the
assets was sufficient to cover 123% of the value of the members’ accrued benefits representing an actuarial surplus of £86.8 million.
The surplus is amortised over the service lives of Fund members (on average 11.5 years) as an even percentage of payroll resulting in
a credit to the profit and loss account of £8.6 million. The next actuarial valuation will be carried out at 31 March 2004.

The net pension debtor at 31 March 2003 was £4.3 million (2002 – £4.2 million).

The Group has charged £0.8 million in respect of unfunded pensions for directors whose benefits are restricted by Inland Revenue
limits. Group contributions paid to the Dairy Crest Fund amounted to £3.8 million.

FRS 17 was issued in November 2000. However, it is not mandatory until the financial year ending 31 March 2006, pending the
introduction of International Accounting Standards which are expected to be introduced for the year to 31 March 2006. Under this
standard certain disclosures are required as to the potential impact on the balance sheet, profit and loss account and the statement of
total recognised gains and losses as if FRS 17 was adopted.

The calculation used for FRS 17 disclosures has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 31 March 2001 and updated by
Aon Consulting to take account of the requirements of FRS 17 in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme at 31 March 2002 and
31 March 2003. This update does not represent a formal valuation. Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective
balance sheet dates.

The following assumptions are used for FRS 17 purposes:
Group Group

2003 2003 2002 2002
Annual rates Value Annual rates Value

% £m % £m

Rate of increase in salaries 4.0 – 4.4 – 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (and price inflation) 2.5 – 2.9 – 
Discount rate 5.5 – 6.2 – 
Equities 7.8 264.6 7.8 389.0 
Bonds and other investments 4.5 107.9 5.3 105.2 

372.5 494.2 

For FRS 17 purposes the net pension liability as at 31 March 2003 was £87.6 million. This is derived as follows:
Group

2003 2002
£m £m

Total market value of assets 372.5 494.2 
Present value of scheme liabilities (497.6) (439.5)

(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (125.1) 54.7
Related deferred tax asset/(liability) 37.5 (16.4)

Net pension (liability)/asset (87.6) 38.3 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

28 Pensions continued
An analysis of the defined benefit cost under FRS 17 assumptions for the year ended 31 March 2003 is as follows:

Group
£m

Current service cost 14.8
Past cost –

Total operating charge 14.8

Expected return on pension scheme assets 35.2
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (27.0)

Total other finance income 8.2

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (142.6)
Experience losses arising on scheme liabilities (0.1)
Loss arising from changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities (34.3)

Actual loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses on an FRS 17 basis (177.0)

Analysis of movements in surplus/(deficit) during the year:
Group

£m

At 1 April 2002 54.7
Total operating charge (14.8)
Total other finance income 8.2
Actual loss (177.0)
Contributions 3.8

At 31 March 2003 (125.1)

History of experience gains and losses:
Group

2003

Difference between expected return and actual return on pension scheme assets:
– amount (£m) (142.6)
– % of scheme assets 38%

Experience losses arising on scheme liabilities:
– amount (£m) (0.1)
– % of the present value of scheme liabilities –

Total actuarial loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses
– amount (£m) (177.0)
– % of the present value of scheme liabilities 36%

Reconciliation of net assets and reserves under FRS 17: Group

2003 2002
£m £m

Net assets
Net assets less minority interests 226.2 206.7 
FRS 17 net pension (liability)/asset (87.6) 38.3
Less SSAP 24 pension asset net of deferred tax in accounts (3.0) (2.9)

Net assets including FRS 17 net pension (liability)/asset 135.6 242.1

Reserves
Profit and loss reserve 115.1 96.6
FRS 17 net pension (liability)/asset (87.6) 38.3
Less SSAP 24 pension asset net of deferred tax in accounts (3.0) (2.9)

Profit and loss reserve including FRS 17 net pension (liability)/asset 24.5 132.0
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29 Financial instruments
An explanation of the Group’s objectives and policies relating to financial instruments is set out in the Financial review on page 18.
Financial instruments other than derivatives comprise cash, overdrafts and bank loans. Short-term debtors and creditors are excluded. 

The Group finances its operations through issued share capital, retained profit and bank loans. In November 2002, in conjunction with
the acquisition of the St Ivel Spreads business, the Group extended its £425 million revolving credit and term loan facility arranged in
May 2000 by £120 million. During the course of the year the Group has also repaid £40 million of the revolving credit facility. All bank
loans and overdrafts are unsecured.

Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
The Group has no financial assets, other than short-term debtors and cash at bank and in hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
predominantly denominated in sterling and earns interest at floating rates based on LIBOR.

Financial liabilities
After taking into account the interest rate contracts entered into by the Group, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial 
liabilities was:

Floating rate Fixed rate
financial liabilities financial liabilities Total

£m £m £m

Currency
Sterling 64.1 275.0 339.1 
Euro 15.9 – 15.9 

At 31 March 2003 80.0 275.0 355.0 

Sterling 89.2 185.0 274.2 
Euro 1.1 12.2 13.3 

At 31 March 2002 90.3 197.2 287.5 

The Group’s floating rate liabilities are at rates which fluctuate, mainly dependent upon LIBOR. All the Group’s other creditors falling
due within one year are excluded from the above table as they are short-term items. For fixed rate financial liabilities the average
interest rates, including margin, and the average period for which the rates are fixed were:

2003 2002

Weighted Weighted average Weighted Weighted average
average period for which average period for which

interest rate the rate is fixed interest rate the rate is fixed

Currency
Sterling 6.18% 26 months 6.70% 23 months 
Euro – – 6.04% 4 months 

At 31 March 6.18% 26 months 6.66% 22 months 

Currency exposures
As at 31 March 2002 and 31 March 2003, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts, the Group
had no currency exposures.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities was:

2003 2002
£m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 23.8 7.0 
In more than one year but not more than two years 0.4 0.2 
In more than two years but not more than five years 330.8 280.3 

355.0 287.5 
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29 Financial instruments continued
Borrowing facilities
Committed undrawn borrowing facilities available at 31 March 2003 amounted to £174.2 million (2002 – £144.8 million). £50.0
million (2002 – £40.0 million) of the undrawn facility expires within one year, £60.0 million (2002 – £50.0 million) of the undrawn
facility expires in one to two years and £64.2 million (2002 – £54.8 million) expires in over two years.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 March were:

2003 2002

Book values Fair values Book values Fair values
£m £m £m £m

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance 
the Group’s operations:
Short-term financial liabilities and current portion 
of long-term liabilities 23.8 23.8 7.0 7.0
Long-term borrowings 331.2 331.2 280.5 280.5
Financial assets (9.8) (9.8) (2.6) (2.6)
Derivative financial instruments:
Interest rate swaps – 7.0 – 1.1
Forward foreign currency contracts – (3.9) – 2.0 

345.2 348.3 284.9 288.0 

The fair values of the interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts have been determined by reference to prices available from
the markets in which the instruments are traded.

As indicated in the table above there were no material differences between the book values and the fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2002 or 31 March 2003. There were no material unrecognised or deferred gains or losses
on forward exchange contracts or interest rate swaps at 31 March 2002 or 31 March 2003.

The Group is exposed to loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties of the above forward exchange contracts
and interest rate swaps but non-performance is not expected to occur because all counterparties have a long-term AA credit rating
or better.

30 Related party transactions
Yoplait Dairy Crest Limited, a joint venture of Dairy Crest Group plc, incurred fees of £10.4 million (2002 – £11.0 million) from the
Group for sales and distribution activities carried out on its behalf. Details of amounts owed by joint ventures are shown in Note 16.

During the year ended 31 March 2003, Ashton Associates, a partnership between Mr and Mrs S M D Oliver, received £21,624 
(2002 – £20,000) from the Group for administration and secretarial services.

31 Post balance sheet event
On 28 May 2003 the Group announced plans to close part of its dairy ingredients operations at Chard, Somerset. The closure is
expected to result in exceptional cash costs of circa £4.0 million and exceptional non-cash asset write downs of circa £15.5 million. 
Net of tax, the total exceptional cost is estimated at circa £14.0 million.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Dairy Crest Group plc

We have audited the Group’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2003 which comprise the Consolidated profit
and loss account, Statement of Group total recognised gains
and losses, Balance sheets, Consolidated cash flow statement
and the related notes 1 to 31. These financial statements have
been prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the Report of
the Board on Directors’ remuneration that is described as
having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
including the financial statements which are required to be
prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law
and accounting standards as set out in the Statement of
Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration to 
be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Report of the Board on
Directors’ remuneration to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also
report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ report is not
consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received 
all the information and explanations we require for our audit, 
or if information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding
directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is 
not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions 
of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control
cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. This other information comprises the Directors’
report, unaudited part of the Report of the Board on Directors’
remuneration, Chairman’s statement, Chief Executive’s review,
Operating review, Financial review and Corporate Governance
Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Report of the Board on
Directors’ remuneration to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made
by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration to be audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the part of the
Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March
2003 and of the profit of the Group for the year then ended; and
• the financial statements and the part of the Report of the
Board on Directors’ remuneration to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
9 June 2003
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Group financial history

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Profit and loss account summary £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover by segment:
Consumer Foods 479 494 785 841 815
Food Services 295 300 522 525 511

Group including share of joint ventures 774 794 1,307 1,366 1,326
Share of joint ventures’ turnover (77) (77) (79) (80) (80)

Group 697 717 1,228 1,286 1,246

Operating profit by segment:
Consumer Foods 32 33 41 63 63
Food Services 16 14 33 30 35
Acquisition reorganisation costs (1) – (20) (42) (31)
Other operating exceptional items – – (2) (3) (1)
Amortisation of goodwill – – (1) (2) (7)

Total operating profit 47 47 51 46 59
Non-operating exceptional items 2 – – 2 10
Interest (3) (3) (17) (19) (21)

Profit before tax 46 44 34 29 48

Balance sheet summary
Operating assets:

Consumer Foods 176 213 376 440 549
Food Services 52 48 120 112 90

Total operating assets 228 261 496 552 639
Tax and dividend creditors (30) (32) (48) (52) (59)
Net borrowings (34) (48) (246) (285) (345)

Net assets 164 181 202 215 235
Minority interests – – (2) (9) (9)

Shareholders’ funds 164 181 200 206 226

Cash flow summary
Generated from operating activities 55 52 107 48 105
Dividends from joint ventures 1 5 1 1 1
Fixed asset investment (net of grants) (36) (47) (29) (60) (62)

20 10 79 (11) 44
Interest paid (2) (4) (16) (19) (22)
Taxation paid (9) (10) (11) (5) (4)
Dividends paid (12) (14) (15) (17) (19)
Purchase of businesses (7) – (236) (3) (94)
Other items (principally asset disposals) 3 4 2 11 36

Net cash outflow (7) (14) (197) (44) (59)

Basic earnings per share (p) 30.9 28.8 20.2 18.0 30.2
Adjusted earnings per share (p) 28.9 29.1 35.4 45.2 46.4
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Shareholders’ information

Company Registrar and Shareholder Enquiries
Administrative enquiries concerning your shareholdings in the Company, such as the loss of share certificates, change of address,
dividend payment arrangements, amalgamation of accounts or requests for the report and accounts or interim reports please
contact the Company’s registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA.

Lloyds TSB Registrars also provide online facilities for shareholders to check their holdings and update their details. Registering is
easy and there is no fee involved, simply access www.shareview.co.uk

Payment of dividends
Shareholders may arrange to have their dividends paid directly into a bank or building society account using the Bankers Automated
Clearing System (BACS). Bank Mandate forms are available from Lloyds TSB Registrars whose details appear above. 

Low cost share dealing service
If you do not have share dealing arrangements in place Dairy Crest has a low cost share dealing service arranged by Hoare Govett
Limited. Shareholders wishing to use the service should contact Hoare Govett at 250 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4AA. 

Gifting shares to charity
Shareholders who have a small holding of shares on the register whereby their value makes them uneconomic to sell, may donate
these shares to charity under the Sharegift Scheme – administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation – a registered charity.
Information can be found at www.sharegift.org
Telephone: 020 7678 8300. 

Analysis of ordinary shareholders at 23 May 2003 Holders
Number % Shares %

Category
Individuals and other holders 22,601 88.65 38,094,181 30.73
Insurance companies, pension funds, banks, 

nominees and limited companies 2,893 11.35 85,881,982 69.27

25,494 100.00 123,976,163 100.00

Size of holdings
Up to 5,000 shares 23,447 91.97 31,444,084 25.36
5,001 – 20,000 shares 1,777 6.97 13,311,886 10.74
20,001 – 100,000 shares 139 0.55 6,290,904 5.07
Over 100,000 shares 131 0.51 72,929,289 58.83 

25,494 100.00 123,976,163 100.00 

General information
General information about Dairy Crest can be found on our corporate website, www.dairycrest.co.uk

Investors who have questions relating to the Group's business activities should contact: 
Investor Relations, Dairy Crest Group plc, Claygate House, Littleworth Road, Esher, Surrey KT10 9PN. 
Telephone: 01372 472200.

Financial Calendar

Dividends Final Interim
(Anticipated)

Ex-dividend Wednesday 9 July 2003 November 2003
Record date Friday 11 July 2003
Payment date Monday 11 August 2003 January 2004

Group results (Anticipated)
Half Year (Interims) November 2003
Preliminary Announcement May 2004
Report and Accounts circulation June 2004
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Notice of Seventh Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Seventh Annual
General Meeting of the Company will be held at the
Chartered Accountants’ Hall, Moorgate Place, London
EC2P 2BJ on Thursday 17 July 2003 at 11.00am for the
following purposes:

Ordinary Business
1. To receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for
the financial year ended 31 March 2003, together with the
directors’ report and auditors’ report on those accounts.

2. To approve the Report of the Board on Directors’
remuneration.

3. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2003 of 11.3 pence per share.

4. To re-elect Mr P S Lewis as a director of the Company.

5. To elect Mr M Allen as a director of the Company.

6. To elect Mr P Thornton as a director of the Company.

7. To elect Mr H Mann as a director of the Company.

8. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors, to hold office
from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of the
next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the
members, and to authorise the directors to determine their
remuneration.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a
Special Resolution:

Special Resolution
9. That, pursuant to Article 41 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Company be generally and unconditionally
authorised, in accordance with Section 166 of the Companies
Act 1985 as amended (“the Act”) to make market purchases
(within the meaning of Section 163(3) of the Act) of ordinary
shares of 25 pence each in the capital of the Company
(“ordinary shares”) provided that:

• the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised
to be acquired is 12,397,616

• the minimum price which may be paid for any such ordinary
share is 25 pence (exclusive of expenses and appropriate taxes)

• the maximum price (exclusive of expenses and appropriate
taxes) which may be paid for any such ordinary share shall be
not more than 5% above the average of the middle market
values for an ordinary share in the Company as taken from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of purchase; and

• the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company (except in
relation to a purchase of ordinary shares the contract for which
was concluded before such time and which will or may be
executed wholly or partly after such time). 

By order of the Board

R J Newton, Secretary
9 June 2003

Registered Office: 
Claygate House, Littleworth Road, Esher, Surrey KT10 9PN

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt as to what
action you should take, you are recommended to seek your own personal financial advice immediately from your
stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent financial adviser duly authorised under the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

If you have already sold or otherwise transferred all of your Dairy Crest Shares, please send this document as soon as
possible to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or agent through whom the sale or transfer was
effected for delivery to the purchaser or transferee.
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Notes
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a
poll, vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of
the Company.

2. You may use the form of proxy enclosed with this Notice to
appoint a proxy to attend the meeting on your behalf. To be
effective, the form of proxy and any authority under which it is
executed (or a certified copy of such authority) must reach the
offices of the Company’s registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars, 
The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA not less than 
48 hours before the time for holding the meeting. Completion
and return of the form of proxy will not preclude shareholders
from attending and voting in person at the meeting.

3. In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that only
those shareholders appearing in the register of members as at
6.00pm on 15 July 2003 (“the specified time”) shall be entitled
to attend and vote at the meeting in respect of the number of
shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to the
register of members after the specified time shall be disregarded
in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at 
the meeting.

4. Individuals will be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
only if their own name appears on the share register or, where
the shares are held in a different trading or registration name, 
on production of written evidence of their authority to act as 
that shareholder’s representative. A partnership the name of
which is entered in the register of members may, by any two
persons purporting to be partners in the partnership, authorise 
a person to act as its representative at the meeting. A company
or other institution may by prior written authorisation confirm 
the appointment of a corporate representative to attend the
meeting on its behalf. Such a representative shall be entitled 
to exercise the same rights as an individual member in respect
of the shares to which the authorisation relates. Any company
or partnership appointing a representative to attend the 
meeting is requested to notify the Company’s registrar of 
such appointment in writing not less than 48 hours before 
the time for holding the meeting. 

5. Only individual shareholders whose names appear on the
register or representatives duly authorised in the above manner
will be permitted to attend and vote at the meeting.

Resolution 1
The directors of the Company have a duty to present to
shareholders in general meeting the annual accounts, together
with the directors’ report and the report of the auditors. 
The auditors’ report can be found on page 51.

Resolution 2
As required by the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations
2002, the Board has presented its Report of the Board on
Directors’ remuneration to shareholders in the Annual Report,
which may be found on pages 21 to 27. This report gives
details of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 
31 March 2003 and sets out the Company’s overall policy on
directors’ remuneration.

As also required by the Directors’ Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002, the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young LLP,
have audited the relevant parts of the Report of the Board on
Directors remuneration and their report may be found on
page 51.

The Board considers that appropriate executive remuneration
plays a vital part in helping to achieve the Company’s overall
objectives. In compliance with the Directors’ Remuneration
Report Regulations 2002, shareholders are invited to approve
the Report of the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Resolutions 3
The directors recommend that a final dividend of 11.3 pence per
share be paid on 11 August 2003 to shareholders on the register
on 11 July 2003. Payment of the final dividend will bring the total
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2003 to 16.4 pence
per share.

Resolution 4
The Articles of Association specify that, one-third of the directors
(other than the directors covered by Resolutions 5 to 7) must
retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting. This year Mr I C
Laurie and Mr P S Lewis retire by rotation. Mr P S Lewis is
eligible for and seeks re-election. Details of his biography can be
found on page 19. Mr I C Laurie will not seek re-election and he
will leave the Group in August 2003.

Resolutions 5 to 7
The Articles of Association also require that any director
appointed by the Board since the last Annual General Meeting
must retire. Mr M Allen, Mr P Thornton and Mr H Mann have
been appointed to the Board during the year and being eligible
offer themselves for election by the shareholders. Details of their
biographies can be found on page 19. 

Explanatory notes
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Explanatory notes continued

Resolution 8
This is a standard resolution proposing the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors.

Resolution 9
The authority for the Company to make market purchases of its
issued share capital, granted last year, will expire at the close 
of the Annual General Meeting. This resolution seeks renewal 
of that authority, again limited to a maximum number of shares
which amounts to approximately 10% of the Company’s 
current issued share capital. The authority has not been used 
to date and would only be exercised if the directors believed
that a repurchase of shares would result in an increase in
earnings per share and would be in the best interests of
shareholders as a whole.

The directors believe that the resolutions are in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole
and unanimously recommend that shareholders should
vote in favour of all resolutions.



Highlights

Adjusted profit before tax up 4% to £76.8 million (2002 – £73.7 million)

Adjusted earnings per share up 3% to 46.4 pence (2002 – 45.2 pence)

Total dividend for the year up 8% to 16.4 pence (2002 – 15.2 pence)

Continued strong growth of key brands: Clover, Cathedral City, Frijj and the
Yoplait brands

Strategic acquisition of St Ivel Spreads and strong performance to date

Completion of £54 million investment programme in super dairies with Severnside
fully operational

Reduction of exposure to commodities with planned closure of butter and powder
facility at Chard

Quality of earnings improving and the Group is moving into a period of strong
cash generation

Dairy Crest, the UK’s premier chilled dairy foods company, focuses on building leadership
positions in branded and added-value markets across the dairy sector and investing in
industry leading facilities to create competitive advantage. Dairy Crest operates in six
business areas: spreads, cheese, liquid products, fresh dairy products (through its joint
venture Yoplait Dairy Crest), household and ingredients.
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...with a strategy focused
on building brands

and adding value

The biggest selling dairy 
spread, Clover has grown 
by 49% in volume over the 
last five years.

49%

Market leading brands have
delivered impressive volume growth

over the past five years
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A taste for growth...
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Littleworth Road
Esher
Surrey KT10 9PN

Company No: 3162897
Visit our website at www.dairycrest.co.uk


